
City of Belleair Beach 
Audit Committee Meeting 

Tuesday, April 16, 2024, at 5:00pm 

Public Meeting Notice 
Agenda 

Call to Order 
Roll Call 

1. Approval of the Agenda

2. Approval of the July 12, 2023 Audit Committee Meeting Minutes

3. Review and Accept the DRAFT Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR)
for Fiscal Year ended September 30, 2023

4. Request for Proposals for Certified Public Accountants to provide Audit Services
and Establish Factors to Use for the Evaluation of Proposals

5. General Business.

Adjournment. 

Any person who decides to appeal any decision of this Meeting with respect to any matter 
considered at this meeting will need a record of the proceedings and for such purposes may need 
to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony 
and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based.  The law does not require verbatim minutes 
transcribed, therefore, the applicant must make the necessary arrangements with a private 
reporter or private reporting firm and bear the resulting expense. Any person with a disability 
requiring reasonable accommodation in order to participate in this meeting should call 727-595-
4646 or fax a written request to 727-593-1409. 

Renee Rose, CMC 
City Clerk 
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Select Year:   2023  Go

The 2023 Florida Statutes (including Special Session C)

Title XIV
TAXATION AND

FINANCE

Chapter 218
FINANCIAL MATTERS PERTAINING TO POLITICAL

SUBDIVISIONS

View Entire
Chapter

218.391  Auditor selection procedures.—
(1)  Each local governmental entity, district school board, charter school, or charter technical career center,

prior to entering into a written contract pursuant to subsection (7), except as provided in subsection (8), shall use
auditor selection procedures when selecting an auditor to conduct the annual financial audit required in s. 218.39.

(2)  The governing body of a county, municipality, special district, district school board, charter school, or
charter technical career center shall establish an auditor selection committee.

(a)  The auditor selection committee for a county must, at a minimum, consist of each of the county officers
elected pursuant to the county charter or s. 1(d), Art. VIII of the State Constitution or their respective designees
and one member of the board of county commissioners or its designee.

(b)  The auditor selection committee for a municipality, special district, district school board, charter school, or
charter technical career center must consist of at least three members. One member of the auditor selection
committee must be a member of the governing body of an entity specified in this paragraph, who shall serve as the
chair of the committee.

(c)  An employee, a chief executive officer, or a chief financial officer of the county, municipality, special
district, district school board, charter school, or charter technical career center may not serve as a member of an
auditor selection committee established under this subsection; however, an employee, a chief executive officer, or
a chief financial officer of the county, municipality, special district, district school board, charter school, or charter
technical career center may serve in an advisory capacity.

(d)  The primary purpose of the auditor selection committee is to assist the governing body in selecting an
auditor to conduct the annual financial audit required in s. 218.39; however, the committee may serve other audit
oversight purposes as determined by the entity’s governing body. The public may not be excluded from the
proceedings under this section.

(3)  The auditor selection committee shall:
(a)  Establish factors to use for the evaluation of audit services to be provided by a certified public accounting

firm duly licensed under chapter 473 and qualified to conduct audits in accordance with government auditing
standards as adopted by the Florida Board of Accountancy. Such factors shall include, but are not limited to, ability
of personnel, experience, ability to furnish the required services, and such other factors as may be determined by
the committee to be applicable to its particular requirements.

(b)  Publicly announce requests for proposals. Public announcements must include, at a minimum, a brief
description of the audit and indicate how interested firms can apply for consideration.

(c)  Provide interested firms with a request for proposal. The request for proposal shall include information on
how proposals are to be evaluated and such other information the committee determines is necessary for the firm
to prepare a proposal.

(d)  Evaluate proposals provided by qualified firms. If compensation is one of the factors established pursuant to
paragraph (a), it shall not be the sole or predominant factor used to evaluate proposals.

(e)  Rank and recommend in order of preference no fewer than three firms deemed to be the most highly
qualified to perform the required services after considering the factors established pursuant to paragraph (a). If
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fewer than three firms respond to the request for proposal, the committee shall recommend such firms as it deems
to be the most highly qualified.

(4)  The governing body shall inquire of qualified firms as to the basis of compensation, select one of the firms
recommended by the auditor selection committee, and negotiate a contract, using one of the following methods:

(a)  If compensation is not one of the factors established pursuant to paragraph (3)(a) and not used to evaluate
firms pursuant to paragraph (3)(e), the governing body shall negotiate a contract with the firm ranked first. If the
governing body is unable to negotiate a satisfactory contract with that firm, negotiations with that firm shall be
formally terminated, and the governing body shall then undertake negotiations with the second-ranked firm. Failing
accord with the second-ranked firm, negotiations shall then be terminated with that firm and undertaken with the
third-ranked firm. Negotiations with the other ranked firms shall be undertaken in the same manner. The governing
body, in negotiating with firms, may reopen formal negotiations with any one of the three top-ranked firms, but it
may not negotiate with more than one firm at a time.

(b)  If compensation is one of the factors established pursuant to paragraph (3)(a) and used in the evaluation of
proposals pursuant to paragraph (3)(d), the governing body shall select the highest-ranked qualified firm or must
document in its public records the reason for not selecting the highest-ranked qualified firm.

(c)  The governing body may select a firm recommended by the audit committee and negotiate a contract with
one of the recommended firms using an appropriate alternative negotiation method for which compensation is not
the sole or predominant factor used to select the firm.

(d)  In negotiations with firms under this section, the governing body may allow a designee to conduct
negotiations on its behalf.

(5)  The method used by the governing body to select a firm recommended by the audit committee and
negotiate a contract with such firm must ensure that the agreed-upon compensation is reasonable to satisfy the
requirements of s. 218.39 and the needs of the governing body.

(6)  If the governing body is unable to negotiate a satisfactory contract with any of the recommended firms, the
committee shall recommend additional firms, and negotiations shall continue in accordance with this section until
an agreement is reached.

(7)  Every procurement of audit services shall be evidenced by a written contract embodying all provisions and
conditions of the procurement of such services. For purposes of this section, an engagement letter signed and
executed by both parties shall constitute a written contract. The written contract shall, at a minimum, include the
following:

(a)  A provision specifying the services to be provided and fees or other compensation for such services.
(b)  A provision requiring that invoices for fees or other compensation be submitted in sufficient detail to

demonstrate compliance with the terms of the contract.
(c)  A provision specifying the contract period, including renewals, and conditions under which the contract may

be terminated or renewed.
(8)  Written contracts entered into pursuant to subsection (7) may be renewed. Such renewals may be done

without the use of the auditor selection procedures provided in this section. Renewal of a contract shall be in
writing.

(9)  If the entity fails to select the auditor in accordance with the requirements of subsections (3)-(6), the
entity must again perform the auditor selection process in accordance with this section to select an auditor to
conduct audits for subsequent fiscal years.

History.—s. 65, ch. 2001-266; s. 1, ch. 2005-32; s. 15, ch. 2019-15.
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City of Belleair Beach 
Audit Committee Meeting 

Wednesday, July 12, 2023, at 5:00pm 
 

 
Minutes 

 

 
Call to Order 

 
Audit Committee Chair Ron Ciganek called the meeting to order at 5:00pm. 
 

Roll Call 
 

Committee Members: 
Ron Ciganek 
Mark Goldman 

John Handzuk 
Robert Risberg was unable to attend 

Thomas Elliot attended via Zoom 
Jody Shirley – City Councilmember 

 
Tim Holic – Alternate Member 
Dr. Brian G. Dillard - Alternate Member was unable to attend 

 
City Staff: 

City Manager Kyle Riefler 
 
 

1. Approval of the Agenda. 
 

MOTION was made by Jody Shirley and seconded by Mark Goldman 

to approve the Agenda. 

 

MOTION passed 5-0. 

 
2. Approval of the May 3, 2023, Audit Committee Meeting Minutes. 

 

MOTION was made by Jody Shirley and seconded by Mark Goldman 

to approve the May 3, 2023, Audit Committee Minutes. 

 

MOTION passed 5-0. 
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3. Review of DRAFT FY 2023-2024 Budget. 
 

Chair Ron Ciganek turned the meeting over to City Manager Riefler.  
 
City Manager Riefler: 

• Reviewed the budget and millage rate 
• Recommended that the City keep the current millage rate of 

2.0394% for the FY2023-2024 budget 
• Advised the need for the administrative assistant position to be 

full time – there was no objection 

• Advised the need for one additional maintenance worker II – the 
committee agreed 

 
The remainder of the budget was reviewed.  
 

The Committee complimented City Manager Riefler for his work 
preparing the budget. 

 
MOTION was made by John Handzuk and seconded by Jody Shirley to 

adopt the budget as presented. 

 

MOTION passed 5-0. 

 

MOTION was made by John Handzuk and seconded by Jody Shirley to 

retain the current millage rate of 2.0394%. 

 

MOTION passed 5-0. 

 

4. General Business. 
 

None. 
 

ADJOURN 

 
MOTION was made by Mark Goldman and seconded by John Handzuk 

to adjourn at 6:15pm. 

 
MOTION passed 5-0. 

 
 

    ____________________                 APPROVED: _______________________ 

    Date Approved                                      Ron Ciganek, Chair 

 

   ATTEST ________________________________ 

                 John Handzuk, Secretary 
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April XX, 2024 

To the Honorable Mayor, City Council Members  
  and Citizens of City of Belleair Beach, Florida 

State law (section 218.32, Florida Statutes, as amended) requires that all general-purpose local governments 
publish within nine months after the close of each fiscal year a complete set of financial statements presented in 
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) and audited 
in accordance with generally accepted, in the United States of America, auditing standards by a firm of licensed 
certified public accountants. Pursuant to that requirement, we hereby issue the annual comprehensive financial 
report of the City of Belleair Beach, Florida (the City) for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023. 

This report consists of management’s representations concerning the finances of the City. Consequently, 
management assumes full responsibility for the completeness and reliability of all the information presented in 
this report. To provide a reasonable basis for making these representations, management of the City has 
established a comprehensive internal control framework that is designed both to protect the government’s assets 
from loss, theft, or misuse and to compile sufficient reliable information for the presentation of the City’s financial 
statements in conformity with GAAP. Because the cost of internal controls should not outweigh their benefits, 
the City’s comprehensive framework of internal controls has been designed to provide reasonable rather than 
absolute assurance that the financial statements will be free from material misstatement. As management, we 
assert that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, this financial report is complete and reliable in all material 
respects. 
 
The City’s financial statements have been audited by Saltmarsh, Cleveland and Gund, P.A. a firm of licensed 
certified public accountants. The goal of the independent audit was to provide reasonable assurance that the 
financial statements of the City for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023, are free of material misstatements. 
The independent audit involved examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management; 
and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. The independent auditor concluded, based upon the 
audit, that there was a reasonable basis for rendering an unmodified opinion that the City’s financial statements 
for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023 are fairly presented in conformity with GAAP. The independent 
auditor’s report is presented as the first component of the financial section of this report. 
 
GAAP require that management provide a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis to accompany the basic 
financial statements in the form of Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A). This letter of transmittal is 
designed to complement the MD&A and should be read in conjunction with it. The City’s MD&A can be found 
immediately following the report of the independent auditors. 
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Factors Affecting Financial Condition  

The information presented in the financial statements is perhaps best understood when it is considered from the 
broader perspective of the specific environment within which the City operates.  

Profile of the Government 

The City of Belleair Beach, Florida was incorporated in 1950 and was chartered pursuant to Chapter 166 Florida 
Statutes, with a Mayor form of government. An amendment to the charter effective March 10, 2004 adopted the 
council-manager form of government. The City currently occupies a land area of eight tenths of a square mile and 
serves an estimated population of 1,643 in 2022. The City is empowered to levy property tax on both real and 
personal properties located within its boundaries but is unique because it does not have any commercial businesses 
located within the City limits (by City Charter), therefore it has no commercial tax base.  
 
Policy-making and legislative authority are vested in a governing council consisting of the Mayor and six other 
members. The City Council is responsible, among other things, for passing ordinances and resolutions, adopting 
the budget, appointing committees and hiring the government’s City Manager, City Clerk and attorney. The City 
Manager is the chief executive officer of the City and is responsible for carrying out the policies and 
ordinances/resolutions and directives of the City Council. Among other things, the City Manager will direct and 
supervise the administration of all departments of the City, except as provided by Charter, attend all council 
meetings and submit to the City Council a proposed annual budget in a timely manner each year. The Council is 
elected on a non-partisan basis. In even-numbered years, four council members, including the Mayor, shall be 
elected for a three-year term and three council members shall be elected to a three-year term in the odd-numbered 
years. The Mayor and council members are elected at large. 
 
The City maintains the streets, parks and other infrastructure.  Police protection is provided by the Pinellas County 
Sheriff’s Office effective June 1, 2007 per referendum approved by citizens in March 2007.  The City’s 
recreational facilities include parks and playgrounds, beaches, tennis courts, basketball court and library services 
in conjunction with the Pinellas County Public Library Cooperative.  The City also has marina slips available to 
residents.  Stormwater improvements are accounted for in a separate fund beginning in fiscal year 2021.  The 
Marina and Stormwater Enterprise Funds are included in this report. 
 
Local Economy 
 
The City of Belleair Beach is a residential community in a region experiencing increasing property values.  The 
City has a healthy property tax base, other non-state derived revenue sources, and reserve funds available that 
will help to offset the short-term impacts of any decreased funding and considers inflationary impacts when 
making future budgetary projections. 
 
In the Tampa Bay area, the unemployment rate of 3.2% in September 2023 was notably higher than the rate of 
2.5% reported in 2022, as the impact of employment losses and declines in other areas of the economy have been 
felt close to home. 
 
The region (which includes the City and the surrounding unincorporated area within Pinellas county) has a 
population base of approximately one million people, with three surrounding counties playing a vital role in the 
region’s economy. 
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Operational, Internal and Budgetary Control 

Operational Control: 
Operational policies are continually monitored to assure that specific tasks are carried out effectively and 
efficiently and that results are consistent with the City’s expectations. As tasks are undertaken, the City evaluates 
deviations and makes necessary adjustments.  A workplace safety program is in place to provide for employee 
accident prevention training, thus minimizing accident-related losses as well as lowering premiums.  Specialized 
training is also undertaken for specific areas of concern.  The City is insured through the Florida Municipal 
Insurance Trust program for general and professional liability, automobile, property and workers’ compensation 
insurance.  
 
Internal Control: 
Effective internal accounting control is a major emphasis in the City’s accounting system.  The City seeks to 
provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded and that financial records are reliable for preparing 
financial statements and maintaining accountability.  The annual budget serves as the foundation for the City’s 
financial planning and control.  Budgets are maintained at the departmental level and changes are approved by 
the City Manager.   
 
Budgetary Control: 
The budget is prepared using conservative assumptions of revenue and moderate expenditure growth. Department 
heads submit to the City Manager their budget requests during April and May of each year. The City Manager 
uses these requests as the starting point for developing a proposed budget. The City Manager then presents this 
proposed budget to City Council for review in June. Budget workshops that are open to the public are held in 
June and July. The Council is required to hold two public hearings on the proposed budget and to adopt a final 
budget by no later than September 30th, the close of the City’s fiscal year. The appropriated budget is prepared 
by fund and departmental details. Department heads may request transfers of appropriations within a department 
through a budget transfer request by the City Manager  and City Treasurer provided that the total budget within a 
fund is not changed. However, if the total amount of budget appropriations within a fund is changed, a resolution 
authorizing a budget amendment is required to be approved by Council. Budget-to-actual comparisons are 
provided in this report for each individual government fund for which an appropriated annual budget has been 
adopted. For the General Fund, this comparison is presented on page 23 and the Capital Projects Fund is on page 
53 as part of the basic financial statements for the governmental funds.  For the Marina Fund, budget–to-actual 
comparisons are presented on page 54. Cash temporarily idle during the year was primarily invested in money 
market funds and certificates of deposit with Truist Bank and Bank United. The City’s surplus cash needed in the 
short term is invested with the State Board of Administration - Florida Prime, to maximize earnings. Additional 
information on the City’s cash and investments can be found at Note 3 to the financial statements. 
 
Strategic Planning and Initiatives 
 
Every fiscal decision is carefully evaluated so the City can make informed and responsible choices to determine 
our priorities against ever changing economic, environmental, and political circumstances. These principles align 
with the City’s mission and vision from the City’s Strategic Plan: 
 

 Create a high level of resident satisfaction by focusing on a beautiful, friendly, safe, well-managed 
waterfront community. 

 To be a premier gulf coast, residential community by creating a high level of resident satisfaction, 
ultimately increasing the demand for living in Belleair Beach and subsequently increasing property values. 
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The City of Belleair Beach has long-range plans for infrastructure improvements (streets, drainage and bridges), 
upgrades to parks and recreation facilities (purchase of equipment, docks, boat ramp and seawall repairs).  The 
budget for the upcoming fiscal year ending September 30, 2024 has provided approximately $6,028,070 for 
capital improvement projects impacting facilities, parks, recreation and infrastructure. Street resurfacing, valley 
curb repair and replacements, utility undergrounding, park renovations and upgrades, dock replacements, and 
stormwater improvement projects are scheduled throughout Belleair Beach during the upcoming years.  
 
The Community Center overlooks the Intracoastal Waterway and generates rental income from weddings, parties, 
meetings, and fitness programs.  The City believes that the Community Center enhances services to citizens, 
improves the aesthetics of the City and provides for a structurally and environmentally sound City Hall.  The City 
received the proceeds of a tax-exempt bank loan in fiscal year 2006 with Truist Bank for $3.0 million to fund the 
project.  Per the loan agreement, quarterly principal and interest payments have been regularly made.   
 
Based on the guidelines from the United States Treasury, the City is considered a “Non-Entitlement Unit” and 
was thereby the recipient of $802,868 in funding from the Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds, 
part of the American Rescue Plan, during fiscal years 2021 and 2022. The City utilized these funds on stormwater 
improvements and fully expended the funds prior to the end of fiscal year 2023. 

During fiscal year 2023, the City issued debt totaling $2,120,000 through South State Bank to accelerate 
stormwater improvements, including valley curb replacements and street resurfacing. 
 
Acknowledgments 
 
The preparation of this report would not have been possible without the efficient and dedicated services of the 
staff of the Finance and Administration departments. We would like to express our appreciation to all members 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 
To the Honorable Mayor, City Council Members 
  and the Citizens of City of Belleair Beach, Florida 
 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 

Opinions 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, each major fund, and the respective budgetary comparison for the General Fund of the City of Belleair 
Beach, Florida (the City) as of and for the year ended September 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective 
financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund and the respective 
budgetary comparison for the General Fund of the City as of and for the year ended September 30, 2023, and the 
respective changes in financial position, and, where applicable, cash flows thereof  for the year then ended in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Basis for Opinions 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States.  Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.  We are required to be 
independent of the City and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical 
requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 
 
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, 
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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Honorable Mayor, City Council Members  
  and the Citizens of City of Belleair Beach, Florida 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, 
considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the City’s ability to continue as a going concern for 
twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known information that may raise 
substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinions.  
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing 
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are 
considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence 
the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing 
Standards, we: 
 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.  Such procedures include 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the City’s internal control.  Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 
 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise 
substantial doubt about the City’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we 
identified during the audit. 
 
Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis on pages 5-15 and budgetary comparison information on page 23 be presented to 
supplement the basic financial statements.  
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Honorable Mayor, City Council Members  
  and the Citizens of City of Belleair Beach, Florida 

Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, 
is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial 
reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.  
We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of 
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with 
management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during 
our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the 
information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or 
provide any assurance. 
 
Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual report. The other information which 
comprises the introductory section, individual fund financial statements, schedules of capital assets, and statistical 
section, are presented for purposes of additional analysis but do not include the basic financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon. Our opinions on the basic financial statements do not cover the other information, and 
we do not express an opinion or any form of assurance thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the basic financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the basic financial 
statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work performed, 
we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information exists, we are required to describe 
it in our report. 
 
Other Reporting by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated April XX, 2024, on our 
consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain 
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters.  The purpose of that report is 
solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the 
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control over 
financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the City’s internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance. 
 
 
 
 
Tampa, Florida 
April XX, 2024 
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CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 
 
 
 
As management of the City of Belleair Beach, (the City) we offer readers of the financial statements this narrative 
overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023. We 
encourage readers to consider the information presented here in conjunction with additional information that we 
have furnished in our Letter of Transmittal, which is on pages i-iv of this report. 
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

 Total assets exceeded liabilities by $20,447,148, representing the overall net position.  Of this amount, 
$9,536,913 is unrestricted.   

 The assets of the City’s governmental activities exceeded its liabilities at the close of the most recent fiscal 
year by $17,594,939 (net position).  Of this amount, $7,481,889 (unrestricted net position) may be used 
to meet the government’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors. 

 At September 30, 2023, the City’s governmental funds reported an ending fund balance of $7,593,362, 
which represents an increase of $1,509,104 or 24.8% in comparison with the prior year.  The City was 
able to achieve this sizable increase due to grant funding recognized and new debt proceeds received. 

 As illustrated by the Statement of Revenue, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance on page 21, the 
Capital Projects Fund had an increase in fund balance of $1,335,396 for fiscal year 2023 resulting from 
grant funding recognized and transfers received from the General Fund. 

 At September 30, 2023, the unassigned fund balance of the General Fund (not restricted, committed or 
assigned to any specific purpose) was $4,480,181 or 218.1% of total General Fund expenditures of 
$2,054,003.  

 Governmental fund revenues increased by $1,985,574, or 58.6% from the prior fiscal year.  The City 
experienced higher revenue from almost all sources in addition to significant grant funding recognized in 
2023. 

 For the City’s business-type activities, assets exceeded liabilities by $2,852,909 (net position), with 
$2,055,023 as unrestricted. 

 The business-type activities operating revenue increased by $793,538 or 304.2% overall as compared with 
the prior year.  There was an increase in net position of business-type activities of $745,529 that was 
comprised of $742,670 from the Stormwater Fund and $2,859 from the Marina Fund. 
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CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 
(Continued) 

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City of Belleair Beach’s basic financial 
statements.  The City of Belleair Beach’s basic financial statements are comprised of three components:  

1) government-wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to financial statements. This 
report also contains other supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements themselves. 

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the City’s 
finances, in a manner that is similar to a private-sector business. 
 
The Statement of Net Position presents information on the City’s assets and liabilities, with the difference between 
them reported as “Net Position.”  The focus of the Statement of Net Position is the “Unrestricted Net Position” 
which is designed to be similar to a corporate entity’s presentation of “bottom-line” results for the City’s activities.  
This statement combines and consolidates the governmental funds’ current financial resources (short-term, 
spendable resources) with capital assets and long-term obligations.  Over time, increases or decreases in net 
position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the City is improving or deteriorating. 

The Statement of Activities presents information showing how the government’s net position changed during 
fiscal year 2023. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change 
occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement 
for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g., uncollected taxes and earned but 
unused vacation leave). 
 
Both of these government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally 
supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that are 
intended to recover all or a signification portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-type 
activities).  The governmental activities of the City include general government, public safety, roads and streets, 
sanitation, and parks and recreation.  The business-type activities of the City include marina slip rentals where 
the fees for the service typically cover the cost of operations including depreciation and a fund to account for 
stormwater improvements. 
 
The government-wide financial statements include the City itself (known as the primary government), the marina 
slip rental operation, and the stormwater fund.  Although legally separated for reporting purposes, these activities 
function as a department of the City for all practical purposes and therefore have been included as an integral part 
of the primary government. 
 
The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 17 - 18 of this report. 
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CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 
(Continued) 

FUNDS 

A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been segregated 
for specific activities or objectives. The City of Belleair Beach, like other state and local governments, uses fund 
accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All of the funds of the 
City can be divided into two categories: governmental funds and proprietary funds. The City does not present any 
fiduciary funds since the City is not responsible for any trustee responsibilities that would be reported in a 
fiduciary fund financial statement. 
 
The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 19-23 of this report and the proprietary 
fund financial statements can be found on pages 24- 27. 
 
The City adopts an annual budget for all funds and budgetary comparison statements have been provided to 
demonstrate compliance with these budgets. 
 
Governmental Funds 

Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental activities in 
the governmental-wide financial statements. However, as mentioned previously, unlike the government-wide 
financial statements, the governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of 
spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year. 

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial statements, it is 
useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar information presented for 
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing so, readers may better understand 
the long-term impact of the government’s near-term financing decisions. Both the governmental fund Balance 
Sheet and the governmental fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance provide a 
reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities. 
 
The City maintains two governmental funds, and both are considered major funds. The governmental fund 
statements are presented on pages 19-23 and provide a Balance Sheet, Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and 
Changes in Fund Balance, and the budgetary comparison for the General Fund. 
 
Proprietary Funds 

The City of Belleair Beach maintains two proprietary funds. One enterprise fund is used to account for the Marina 
Fund activities and the other is used to report the costs of stormwater improvements throughout the City.  
Enterprise and proprietary funds are used to report the same functions and the same type of information as the 
government-wide financial statements but are referred to as business-type activities. The City’s proprietary fund 
financial statements provide separate information for the Marina Fund and the Stormwater Funds. The basic 
proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 24-27 of this report.  The budgetary comparison 
report for the Marina Fund is on page 54 and on page 55 for the Stormwater Fund. 
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CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 
(Continued) 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in the 
government-wide and fund financial statements.  The notes to the financial statements can be found on pages 29-
52 of this report. 

INFRASTRUCTURE ASSETS 

Due to the small size of the City and infrastructure assets valued less than $10 million, the City has elected to 
only record and depreciate infrastructure going forward.  Historically, a government’s largest group of assets 
(infrastructure: roads, bridges, sidewalks, curbs, underground pipes, unless associated with a utility, etc.) have 
not been reported or depreciated in the City’s financial statements. The statements require that these assets be 
valued and recorded within the “Governmental” columns of the government-wide statements. 

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 

As noted earlier, net position may serve as a useful indicator of a government’s financial conditions over time. In 
the case of the City of Belleair Beach, total assets exceeded total liabilities by $20,447,149 at the close of fiscal 
year ended September 30, 2023.  For more detailed information, see the full Statement of Net Position on page 
17. 
 
At September 30, 2023, a considerable portion of the City’s net position is invested in capital assets (e.g., land, 
buildings, equipment, marina docks and stormwater infrastructure) at 44.9% of total assets.  The City uses these 
capital assets to provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending.  
Although the City’s investment in capital assets is reported net of related outstanding debt used to acquire those 
capital assets, (for example, the Community Center loan) it should be noted that the resources needed to repay 
this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate 
these liabilities.  A large part of the City’s assets (35.4%) reflects the investment in cash, cash equivalents and 
other investments.  This is affected by the implementation of the City’s investment policy that has emphasis on 
first: safety of principal, second: liquidity or readily available for conversion into cash in order to finance the 
City’s operating cash flow requirements, and the third criteria: yield or earnings. 

As of September 30, 2023, there are no significant external restrictions on how the City’s resources may be used.  
The balance of unrestricted net position of $9,536,913 or 46.6% of total net position may be used to meet the 
government’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors. 
 
At the end of the fiscal year ending September 30, 2023, the City reports positive balances in all the categories of 
net position for the government as a whole, as well as for the governmental and business-type activities.  The 
same situation held true for the prior fiscal year. 
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CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 
(Continued) 

The following table reflects the condensed Statement of Net Position compared to the prior year.  

Current and other assets   $ 7,772,956     $ 6,955,019     $ 2,068,987     $ 470,563        $ 9,841,943     $ 7,425,582     
Capital assets          11,936,276   10,458,319   2,543,429     1,671,894     14,479,705   12,130,213   

Total assets $ 19,709,232   $ 17,413,338   $ 4,612,416     $ 2,142,457     $ 24,321,648   $ 19,555,795   

Current liabilities             $ 455,230        $ 1,075,267     $ 163,886        $ 27,933          $ 619,116        $ 1,103,200     
Non-current liabilities            1,659,063     1,556,115     1,596,321     7,844            3,255,384     1,563,959     

Total liabilities 2,114,293     2,631,382     1,760,207     35,777          3,874,500     2,667,159     

Net position:               
Net investment in              

capital assets     10,113,050   8,789,772     797,186        1,648,774     10,910,236   10,438,546   
Restricted -                802,868        -                -                -                802,868        
Unrestricted            7,481,889     5,189,316     2,055,023     457,906        9,536,912     5,647,222     
  Total net position                 17,594,939   14,781,956   2,852,209     2,106,680     20,447,148   16,888,636   
Total liabilities and                  
    net position                $ 19,709,232   $ 17,413,338   $ 4,612,416     $ 2,142,457     $ 24,321,648   $ 19,555,795   

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

 
 
 

WORKING 797,1        797     
,868 -                -             

189,31689,316 2,055,0     2,055,     
14,781,95614,781,956 2,8     2 8

$ 17,413,338$ 17,413,3 $$NGNGNGNGNGNGNGNG
KKKKINKINKINKIN

COPY 
,563 $ 9,841,943563 $ 9,841,943

671,894894 14,479,7   
2,142,4572,142,457 $ 24,3   $

$ 27,933          $27,933          
2121 7,8447,844                    

60,207207 35,77          35,77       

20232023

PYPY
OPOPOPOPOPOPOPOPOPOPOPOP

CCCOCOCCCOCO
YToYYY -  ar.  ar.  

PRELIM
INARY 8,7744

-       -            
457,906457,906        9    

2,106,680     2,106     

416 $ 2,142,457$ 2,142,457RYRYYYRYRYYY
AAAAARARARAR

DRAFT
,425,582,425

12,130,2132,130,213
$ 19,555,795555,795

$ 1,103,200$ 1,103,2001616
55,38484 1,563,91,563,9     

3,874,5003,874,500 2,66      

0,2360,236DRDRDRDR
FFAFARARA

DRDRDRDR



-10- 
 

CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 
(Continued) 

Statement of Activities 

The following schedule compares the revenues and expenses for the current and previous fiscal year. 

Revenues:
Program revenues:                 

Charges for services             $ 984,703      $ 1,048,799   $ 250,788      $ 260,409      $ 1,235,491   $ 1,309,208   
Operating grants and           

contributions 1,683,591   9,931          802,868      -              2,486,459   9,931          
General revenues:          

Property taxes           1,433,411   1,260,856   -              -              1,433,411   1,260,856   
Franchise fees 195,479      195,749      -              -              195,479      195,749      
Utility taxes 317,255      298,950      -              -              317,255      298,950      
Other taxes and fees 548,432      499,609      -              -              548,432      499,609      
Miscellaneous 205,753      77,126        746             455             206,499      77,581        

Total revenues          5,368,624   3,391,020   1,054,402   260,864      6,423,026   3,651,884   

Expenses:
Governmental activities:

General government          853,131      812,867      -              -              853,131      812,867      
Public safety           597,437      569,810      -              -              597,437      569,810      
Physical Environment 980,880      891,758      -              -              980,880      891,758      
Culture and recreation            61,928        54,363        -              -              61,928        54,363        
Interest on long-term debt 62,265        76,111        -              -              62,265        76,111        

Business-type activities:   
Marina -   -              75,959 72,397 75,959 72,397
Stormwater -              -              232,914      180,345      232,914      180,345      

Total expenses              2,555,641   2,404,909   308,873      252,742      2,864,514   2,657,651   

Change in net position          
 before transfers               2,812,983   986,111      745,529      8,122          3,558,512   994,233      

Transfers                 -              (25,000)       -              25,000        -              -              

Change in net position       2,812,983   961,111      745,529      33,122        3,558,512   994,233      

Net position, beginning of year     14,781,956 13,820,845 2,106,680   2,073,558   16,888,636 15,894,403 

Net Position, end of year $ 17,594,939 $ 14,781,956 $ 2,852,209   $ 2,106,680   $ 20,447,148 $ 16,888,636 

20222023 2022 2023 2022 2023

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total
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CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 
(Continued) 

Governmental Activities 

Governmental Activities increased the City’s net position by $2,812,983 compared to the prior year’s increase of 
$961,111. This fiscal year’s increase accounts for 16.0% of the governmental activities total net position at year-
end of $17,594,939.  The overall increase in the net position of the governmental activities is largely due to 
reimbursements from Pinellas County for capital improvements. 
 
Governmental Funds 
 
The focus of the City’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, outflows, and balances 
of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the City’s financing requirements. In particular, 
the unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a government’s net resources available for spending 
at the end of the fiscal year.   
 
At of the end of fiscal year 2023, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of 
$7,593,362, an increase of $1,509,104, in comparison with the prior year when the net change was an increase of 
$1,061,079. Government-wide expenses increased by $206,862. Increased expenditures were incurred across 
almost all current functions. Further analysis of the activity within the governmental funds can be found in the 
following sections. 

General Fund 

The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the City.  The City was fortunate to experience higher property 
values and related ad valorem revenue, received greater state-derived revenue as tourism continues to resume in 
Florida, earned higher charges for services resulting, in part, from the accrual of substantial code enforcement 
violations, and benefited from more interest earned on investments.  Total expenditures increased by $146,182 
compared to the prior year, with the largest increase resulting from capital outlay expenditures.  There is a separate 
discussion below regarding the specific capital asset additions.  The City also received a total of $802,868, from 
the Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds that was recognized  during fiscal year 2023. 
 
At the end of fiscal year 2023, the unassigned fund balance of the General Fund, which has not been restricted, 
committed or assigned to specific purposes, was $4,480,181. This is available for spending at the City’s discretion. 
 
The remainder of the General Fund balance of $1,175,300 is not available for new spending and has been 
classified as “non-spendable” (so it cannot be converted into cash) that designates an amount for prepaid items 
totaling $24,550, and encumbrances of $1,150,750. The total fund balance represents 287.3% of total General 
Fund expenditures for 2023. 
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CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 
(Continued) 

General Fund Budgetary Highlights 

During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023, the significant variances between the final amended budget and 
the actual results are shown below: 

 Revenues were higher than budgeted amount by $535,611 with all line items exceeding the budgeted 
amounts. 

 Expenditures were lower than budgeted amount by $190,567 due to lower expenditures in all functions. 

Capital Projects Fund 

The Capital Projects Fund is used to account for the acquisition or construction of major capital facilities other 
than those financed by proprietary funds. This is also used for non-recurring capital expenditures with an 
estimated useful life of at least ten years and/or a minimum cost of $1,000 in order to avoid distortion of financial 
trend information in the other funds. 
 
At the end of fiscal year 2023, the fund balance of the Capital Projects Fund was $1,937,881 and is considered 
“committed” since those funds have been earmarked for expenditures in the Capital Projects budget set forth in 
the City’s Capital Improvement Plan.  This represents a significant increase from $602,485 at the end of fiscal 
year 2022.  The majority of the increase is due to transfers from the General Fund to cover capital outlay 
expenditures and debt proceeds received. 

Business-Type Activities 

Proprietary Funds 
The City’s proprietary fund-level statements provide the same type of information found in the government-wide 
financial statements, but in more detail.  At of the end of fiscal year 2023, the City’s proprietary funds reported 
combined ending net position balances of $2,106,680.  This total combines the Stormwater fund, whose net 
position equates to $1,740,994, and the Marina fund’s net position of $365,686.  Further analysis of the activity 
within the proprietary funds can be found in the following sections. 

Marina Fund 

Unrestricted net position of the Marina fund at the end of the year amounted to $339,990 for fiscal year 2023 
compared to $334,563 in fiscal year 2022. 

Marina fund activities increased the City’s net position by $2,859 compared to the prior year’s increase of 
$10,862. People flocking to the beach has continued to generate record setting parking fees for the City.  For 
fiscal year 2023, the City-owned marina generated $2,113 in net operating income from $78,072 in parking fees 
and marina slip rental revenue.  
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CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 
(Continued) 

Stormwater Fund 

Through an Ordinance approved on July 6, 2020, a stormwater utility fee was created to help pay for the costs of 
addressing stormwater issues within the City.  Beginning in fiscal year 2021, the City established the new fund, 
the Stormwater Fund.  Property owners within the City are assessed a stormwater fee on their monthly bills from 
Pinellas County Utilities to help cover the cost of these improvements. 

In the first year of operation, the Stormwater fund was the recipient of a transfer of stormwater infrastructure that 
had previously been accounted for in the Capital Projects fund prior to the establishment of the Stormwater fund.  
An allocation of 15% of the Public Works’ department personnel service costs is reported in this fund.   

Unrestricted net position of the Stormwater fund at the end of the year amounted to $1,715,033 for fiscal year 
2023 compared to $123,343 in fiscal year 2022.  Stormwater fund activities increased the City’s net position by 
$742,670, compared to the prior year’s increase of $22,260.  

CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 

Capital Assets 

The City’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business-type activities as of September 30, 2023 
amounts to $14,479,705 (net of accumulated depreciation and related debt). This investment in capital assets 
includes land, buildings, improvements other than building, equipment, infrastructure, marina docks and security 
fence, and stormwater system. The net increase of the City’s capital assets for the current fiscal year was 
$1,477,957 for governmental activities and $871,535 for the business-type activities. 
 
During fiscal year 2023, the City invested in boat ramp and seawall improvements, undergrounding projects, 
buoys, playground equipment, stormwater improvements, drainage improvements, and various equipment. 
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 
(Continued) 

Land                 $ 1,426,738        $ -                   $ 1,426,738        
Buildings 4,225,071        -                   4,225,071        
Improvements other 

than buildings          8,831,301        3,467,480        12,298,781      
Equipment        1,312,135        -                   1,312,135        
Accumulated depreciation            (3,858,969)       (924,051)          (4,783,020)       

Total $ 11,936,276      $ 2,543,429        $ 14,479,705      

AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2023
SUMMARY OF CAPITAL ASSETS

Total
Governmental Business-Type

Activities  Activities

 
 
Additional information on the City’s capital assets can be found on pages 44-45 of this report. 
 
Long-Term Debt 
 
Governmental Activities 
Construction of the City’s City Hall and Community Center was completed in November 2009 at a cost of $3.927 
million. Funding sources consisted of a $3 million bank loan, infrastructure sales tax (Penny for Pinellas) and 
contributions from the General Fund. The interest rate is a variable rate that is currently at 4.52121% annually 
and is payable quarterly effective October 2006. The loan principal balance as of September 30, 2023 is $320,000. 
The Capital Projects Fund makes the debt payments for principal and interest on this loan. 
 
During fiscal year 2018, the City issued revenue bonds, series 2018A, 2018B, and 2018C to fund the cost of 
underground utilities in the Bellevue Estates Island neighborhood. A special non-ad valorem assessment has been 
imposed on the impacted residents and this revenue is pledged for the bond payments. The special assessment 
will be assessed on the households each year for 20 years, beginning with 2018. The outstanding principal balance 
as of September 30, 2023 is $1,121,626. The Capital Projects Fund makes the debt payments for principal and 
interest on these bonds. 

During fiscal year 2023, the City issued Capital Improvement Note Series 2023 to fund the cost of street 
resurfacing capital improvements. The outstanding principal balance as of September 30, 2023 is $381,600.  The 
Capital Projects Fund makes the debt payments for principal and interest on this note. 

The balances of the loan and revenue bonds are currently reported on the Statement of Net Position under 
governmental activities. 

Compensated absences in the amount of $46,449 are also reported on the Statement of Net Position as a current 
liability and $43,841 as a noncurrent liability. 
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CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 
(Continued) 

Business-Type Activities 
On September 25, 2020 the issuance of a new Stormwater Utility System Revenue Note, Series 2020, was 
validated by the Circuit Court of Pinellas County to be issued in the amount of $45,000 through South State Bank.  
The proceeds were used to finance the up-front costs of the stormwater system enhancements.  The term of the 
note is 3 years at an interest rate of 3.75% payable quarterly.  The loan principal balance as of September 30, 
2023 is $7,843. 

During fiscal year 2023, the City issued Capital Improvement Note Series 2023 to fund the cost of stormwater 
system capital improvements.  The outstanding principal balance as of September 30, 2023 is $1,738,400.  The 
Stormwater Fund makes the debt payments for principal and interest on this note. 
 
Additional information on the City’s long-term debt activity can be found in Note 9 on pages 46- 49 of this report. 

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGET 

The State of Florida, by constitution, does not have a state personal income tax and therefore the State operates 
primarily using sales, gasoline and corporate income taxes. Local governments (cities, counties and school 
boards) primarily rely on property taxes and a limited array of other taxes (sales, gasoline, utility services, etc.) 
and fees (franchise, etc.) for their governmental activities. There are a limited number of state-shared revenues 
and recurring and nonrecurring grants from the State, federal government and other grantor agencies.  The level 
of taxes, fees, and charges for service determined by the Florida legislature will have a bearing on the amount of 
funding the City receives annually. 

 The unemployment rate for Pinellas County at September 30, 2023 was 3.2% which was higher than the 
2022 rate of 2.5%. 

 Inflationary trends in the region compare favorably to the national trends and property values are on the 
rise in the City of Belleair Beach, which is entirely a residential community. 

 Amendment I, approved by voters in January 2008 had a negative impact on Ad Valorem Tax revenues. 
Amendment I created an additional Homestead tax exemption of $25,000 doubling regular homestead tax 
exemption to $50,000, allowed “portability of save our homes cap” and eliminated some tangible personal 
property from the tax rolls. 

 
 All of the above-mentioned factors were considered in preparing the City of Belleair Beach’s budget for 

the 2023-2024 fiscal year. 

REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION 

This financial report is designed to present users with a general overview of the City’s finances to all those 
interested in the government’s finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or 
request for additional financial information should be addressed to the City’s Finance Officer at 444 Causeway 
Boulevard, Belleair Beach, Florida 33786 or email: finance@cityofbelleairbeach.com. 
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ASSETS             
Current Assets:             

Cash and cash equivalents           $ 3,245,513 $ 2,065,340 $ 5,310,853           
Investments             3,291,676 -                     3,291,676           
Receivables, net          1,211,217 376                     1,211,593           
Due from other governments           -                     
Prepaid items          24,550 3,271 27,821                

Total current assets                    7,772,956           2,068,987           9,841,943           

Non-Current Assets:                     
Capital assets

Non-depreciable 1,426,738 -                     1,426,738           
Depreciable 10,509,538 2,543,429 13,052,967         

         Total non-current assets 11,936,276         2,543,429           14,479,705         

Total Assets $ 19,709,232         $ 4,612,416           $ 24,321,648         

LIABILITIES                 
Current Liabilities:             

Accounts payable             $ 166,208 $ 7,975 $ 174,183              
Accrued liabilities 12,946 -                     12,946                
Accrued interest          21,183 -                     21,183                
Unearned revenue 440 5,989 6,429                  
Compensated absences 46,449 -                     46,449                
Notes payable 120,000 -                     120,000              
Revenue bonds payable 88,004 149,922 237,926              

Total current liabilities                    455,230              163,886              619,116              

Noncurrent Liabilities:
Compensated absences 43,841 -                     43,841                
Notes payable 200,000 -                     200,000              
Revenue bonds payable 1,415,222 1,596,321 3,011,543           

Total noncurrent liabilities 1,659,063           1,596,321           3,255,384           

Total liabilities                    2,114,293 1,760,207 3,874,500

NET POSITION               
Net investment in capital assets                10,113,050 797,186 10,910,236         
Unrestricted 7,481,889 2,055,023           9,536,912           

Total net position  17,594,939         2,852,209           20,447,148         

Total Liabilities and Net Position   $ 19,709,232         $ 4,612,416           $ 24,321,648         

CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Primary Government

TotalActivitiesActivities
Business-typeGovernmental

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of these financial statements.
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ASSETS             
Cash and cash equivalents            $ 2,078,552 $ 1,166,961 $ 3,245,513            
Investments 3,168,120 123,556 3,291,676            
Receivables, net                      464,370 746,847 1,211,217            
Prepaid items          24,550 -                       24,550                 

Total Assets   $ 5,735,592            $ 2,037,364            $ 7,772,956            

LIABILITIES                 
Accounts payable             $ 66,725 $ 99,483 $ 166,208               
Accrued liabilities          12,946 -                       12,946                 
Unearned revenue 440 -                       440                      

Total liabilities            80,111        99,483        179,594      

FUND BALANCES
Non-spendable                

Prepaid items                24,550 -                       24,550                 
Committed             

Capital projects -                       1,937,881 1,937,881            
Assigned               

Capital projects 1,150,750 -                       1,150,750            
Unassigned            4,480,181 -                       4,480,181            

Total fund balances              5,655,481            1,937,881            7,593,362            

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances       $ 5,735,592   $ 2,037,364   $ 7,772,956   

General Capital Projects Funds

CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA
BALANCE SHEET - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Total
Governmental

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of these financial statements.
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Fund Balances - Total Governmental Funds $ 7,593,362      

Amounts reported for governmental activities  in the       
statement of net position are different because:       

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not        
financial resources and therefore are not reported        
in the governmental funds.              

Governmental non-depreciable assets       1,426,738
Governmental depreciable assets             14,368,507
Less accumulated depreciation                (3,858,969)     11,936,276

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current            
period and therefore are not reported as liabilities in the       
governmental funds.                 

Notes payable (320,000)        
Revenue bonds payable              (1,503,226)     
Accrued interest              (21,183)          
Compensated absences              (90,290)          (1,934,699)

Total Net Position - Governmental Activities      $ 17,594,939    

CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA
RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET TO THE

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of these financial statements.

-20-

WORKING     

d payable in the curpayable in the cu
orted as liabilities orted as liabilities 

       

able              e              
                      

absences              absences              

sition - Governmsition - Gover

COPY $ -  

PRELIM
INARY       

      

Activities      ctivities     

Y
(3(3

Y DRAFT6262

426,738426,738
68,50768,50

969)969)969)969)D



Revenues:   
Taxes:

Ad valorem $ 1,433,411            $ -                       $ 1,433,411
Franchise 195,479               -                       195,479
Utility 317,255 -                       317,255

Intergovernmental 322,311 1,909,712 2,232,023
Assessments -                       117,590 117,590
Charges for services             648,029 -                       648,029
Fines 29,982 -                       29,982
Licenses and permits 189,102 -                       189,102
Interest on investments 163,544 9,581 173,125               
Miscellaneous 40,598 -                       40,598

Total revenues              3,339,711 2,036,883 5,376,594

Expenditures:               
Current        

General government             709,585 5,692 715,277
Public safety            590,286 -                       590,286
Physical environment 641,138 616 641,754
Culture and recreation             12,164 -                       12,164

Capital outlay 100,830 1,898,561 1,999,391
Debt service         

Principal              -                       226,921 226,921
Interest            -                       63,297 63,297

Total expenditures               2,054,003 2,195,087 4,249,090            

Excess (deficiency) of revenues            
over (under) expenditures         1,285,708 (158,204)              1,127,504            

Other Financing         
Sources (Uses):           

Proceeds from issuance of debt -                       381,600               381,600               
Transfers in                -                       1,112,000            1,112,000            
Transfers out            (1,112,000)           -                       (1,112,000)           
Total other financing                

sources (uses)          (1,112,000)           1,493,600            381,600               

Net change in fund balances        173,708               1,335,396            1,509,104            

Fund Balances:        
Beginning of year      5,481,773 602,485 6,084,258            

End of year               $ 5,655,481            $ 1,937,881            $ 7,593,362            

CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA

Total

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES
IN FUND BALANCES - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Funds
Governmental

Capital ProjectsGeneral

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of these financial statements.
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Net change in fund balances - governmental funds         $ 1,509,104      

Amounts reported for governmental activities  in the statement         
of activities are different because:              

Governmental funds report capital outlay as expenditures.             
However, in the statement of activities, the cost of those    
assets is depreciated over their estimated lives.  The net effect        
of various miscellaneous transactions involving capital assets,    
including disposal, which decrease net position, are not reported     
in the governmental funds.        

Expenditures for capital assets         1,999,391
Loss on disposal of capital assets (7,970)            
Depreciation expense (513,464)        1,477,957      

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current
period and therefore are not reported in the governmental funds.

   Debt principal payments 226,921
Proceeds from issuance of debt (381,600)        

   Change in accrued interest 1,032             (153,647)        

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not          
require the use of current financial resources and therefore        
are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds.              

Change in compensated absences              (20,431)          

Change in net position - governmental activities         $ 2,812,983      

CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES TO THE
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of these financial statements.

-22-

WORKING e not 

and payable in the cuand payable in the cu
reported in the govereported in the gov

ntsnts
uance of debtce of debt

ued interestued interest

s reported in the statreported in the sta
he use of current finae use of current f

t reported as expendeported as expend
Change in compensChange in compen

hange in net positnge in net p

COPY$

ffect        ect  
sets,    ets,   

rted     rted     

-  

PRELIM
INARY1,9991

(7,9
(513(5(513(51

funds.funds.

f activities do not    f activities do not    
ources and thereforurces and therefor

governmental fundgovernmental fund
ences              ences              

vernmental activitintal activit

RY DRAFT044



 

Revenues:        
Taxes:

Ad valorem $ 1,429,590 $ 1,429,590 $ 1,433,411 $ 3,821             
Franchise 190,000 190,000 195,479 5,479             
Utility 293,800 293,800 317,255 23,455           

Intergovernmental 219,385 219,385 322,311 102,926         
Charges for services             488,325 488,325 648,029 159,704         
Fines 10,000 10,000 29,982 19,982           
Licenses and permits 156,500 156,500 189,102 32,602           
Interest on investments 10,000 10,000 163,544         153,544         
Miscellaneous 6,500 6,500 40,598 34,098           

Total revenues          2,804,100 2,804,100 3,339,711      535,611         

Expenditures:   
City Clerk 116,095         116,095 111,289 4,806             
Mayor and Council 30,085           30,085 21,334 8,751             
City Manager 191,780         191,780 148,056 43,724           
Finance 86,170           86,170 85,120 1,050             
Information Technology 23,300           21,300 16,704 4,596             
Non-Departmental 359,470         359,470 328,922 30,548           
Law Enforcement 559,120         559,120 549,120 10,000           
Code Enforcement 57,580           57,580 41,166 16,414           
Sanitation 335,485         335,485 335,228 257                
Public Works 401,285         388,285 318,844 69,441           
Parks & Recreation 18,200           99,200 98,220 980                

Total expenditures               2,178,570 2,244,570 2,054,003 190,567

Excess of revenues         
over expenditures   625,530 559,530 1,285,708      726,178         

Other Financing Sources (Uses):       
Transfers out         (963,310)        (1,112,000)     (1,112,000)     -                 

Total other financing uses         (963,310)        (1,112,000)     (1,112,000)     -                 

Appropriation of Fund Balance 337,780         552,470         -                 (552,470)        

Net change in fund balance          $ -                 $ -                 173,708         $ 173,708         

Fund Balance:         
Beginning of year               5,481,773      

End of year                  $ 5,655,481      

CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN

FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - GENERAL FUND
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 

Variance with
Final Budget -

Positive
Original Budget Final Budget Actual (Negative)

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of these financial statements.
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ASSETS               
Current Assets:             

Cash and cash equivalents         $ 1,717,647 $ 347,693 $ 2,065,340               
Receivables, net                   -                          376                         376                         
Prepaid expenses -                          3,271 3,271                      

Total current assets                    1,717,647               351,340                  2,068,987               

Non-Current Assets:                     
Capital assets, net   

Improvements other than building        2,514,874 28,555 2,543,429               

Total Assets $ 4,232,521               $ 379,895                  $ 4,612,416               

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable          $ 2,614 $ 373 $ 2,987                      
Customer deposits -                          4,988 4,988                      
Deferred revenue -                          5,989 5,989                      
Notes payable 149,922 -                          149,922                  

Total current liabilities             152,536                  11,350                    163,886                  

Non-Current Liabilities:           
Notes payable 1,596,321 -                          1,596,321               

Total liabilities                    1,748,857               11,350                    1,760,207               

NET POSITION       
Net investment in capital assets          768,631 28,555                    797,186                  
Unrestricted                   1,715,033 339,990 2,055,023               

Total net position       2,483,664               368,545                  2,852,209               

Total Liabilities and Net Position                    $ 4,232,521               $ 379,895                  $ 4,612,416               

Fund
Stormwater

Funds

CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION - PROPRIETARY FUNDS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Total
ProprietaryMarina

Fund

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of these financial statements.
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Operating Revenues:        
Intergovernmental $ 802,868 $ -                      $ 802,868              
Charges for services         

General government -                      78,072                78,072                
Utilities 172,716 -                      172,716              

Total charges for services                   975,584              78,072                1,053,656           

Operating Expenses:               
Personnel services              33,475 -                      33,475
Contractual services        16,455                -                      16,455
Supplies               -                      71,010                71,010
Repairs and maintenance             28,563                -                      28,563
Professional fees 28,393 -                      28,393
Office and utilities                  -                      2,382                  2,382
Depreciation    125,375              2,567                  127,942

Total operating expenses                   232,261 75,959 308,220

Operating income 743,323              2,113                  745,436              

Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses):                  
Investment earnings         - 746 746                     
Interest expense (653)                    -                      (653)                    

Total non-operating revenue (expenses)             (653)                    746                     93                       

Change in net position                   742,670              2,859                  745,529              

Net position at beginning of year              1,740,994           365,686 2,106,680           

Net position at end of year                 $ 2,483,664           $ 368,545              $ 2,852,209           

CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES

IN NET POSITION - PROPRIETARY FUNDS
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Fund Fund Funds
Stormwater Marina Proprietary

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of these financial statements.
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Cash Flows from Operating Activities:        
Receipts from customers and users               $ 975,584 $ 77,696 $ 1,053,280      
Payments to employees (33,475)          -                 (33,475)          
Payments to suppliers and providers               (72,772)          (73,501)          (146,273)        

Net cash provided by operating activities          869,337         4,195             873,532         

Cash Flows from Capital and         
Related Financing Activities:        

Proceeds from issuance of revenue note 1,738,400      -                 1,738,400      
Acquisition and construction of                

capital assets      (999,477)        -                 (999,477)        
Principal paid on bonds payable        (15,277)          -                 (15,277)          
Interest paid on long-term debt       (653)               -                 (653)               

Net cash provided by capital and                       
related financing activities         722,993         -                 722,993         

Cash Flows from                     
Investing Activities:                    

Interest income                     -                 746 746                

Net Change in Cash                   
and Cash Equivalents                  1,592,330      4,941             1,597,271      

Cash and Cash Equivalents -                
Beginning of the Year               125,317         342,752 468,069         

Cash and Cash Equivalents -                   
End of the Year                  $ 1,717,647 $ 347,693         $ 2,065,340      

CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS - PROPRIETARY FUNDS

Proprietary
Funds

YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

FundFund

Total
Stormwater Marina

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of these financial statements.
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Reconciliation of Operating Income                     
to Net Cash Provided by                     
Operating Activities:                 
Operating income    $ 743,323         $ 2,113             $ 745,436         

Adjustments to reconcile operating income            
to net cash provided by operating activities -                   

Depreciation               125,375 2,567 127,942
Changes in operating assets                     

and liabilities:                    
Receivables -                 (376)               (376)
Prepaid expenses -                 (777)               (777)
Accounts payable                 639                (35)                 604
Customer deposits                  -                 (72)                 (72)                 
Deferred revenue                  -                 775                775

Total adjustments                    126,014         2,082             128,096         

Net Cash Provided By  
Operating Activities   $ 869,337         $ 4,195             $ 873,532         

FundsFund Fund
Stormwater Marina Proprietary

CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS - PROPRIETARY FUNDS

YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Total

(Continued)

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of these financial statements.
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CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 
 
 
 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 
The City of Belleair Beach (City) maintains its accounting records in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to government units.  The Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial 
reporting principles.  The more significant of the City’s accounting policies are described below. 
 
A. Reporting Entity 
 

The City is a political subdivision of the State of Florida, located in Pinellas County in the west central 
portion of the State.  The City was incorporated in 1950.  The original Charter was revised in 1959. This 
revised Charter was recorded on May 18, 1959, in the Municipal Charter Book IV. The Charter was 
revised in 1968 and again in 2004.  The amended Charter (effective as of March 10, 2004) adopted the 
council-manager form of government.  The City is approximately .484 square miles in area. The City is 
a full-service municipality providing its citizens with a full complement of municipal services. In 
addition, the City owns and operates enterprise activities for the marina and stormwater system. 
 
In evaluating how to define the City of Belleair Beach, Florida (the primary government), for financial 
reporting purposes, management has considered all potential component units.  The decision to include 
a potential component unit in the reporting entity was made by applying the criteria set forth in GASB 
Statement No. 14, The Financial Reporting Entity. 
 
This governmental accounting standard requires that this financial statement present the City of Belleair 
Beach (the primary government) and its component units, if applicable. Component units generally are 
legally separate entities for which a primary government is financially accountable.  Financial 
accountability ordinarily involves meeting both of the following criteria: the primary government is 
accountable for the potential component unit (i.e., the primary government appoints the voting majority 
of its board) and the primary government is able to impose its will upon the potential component unit, 
or there is a possibility that the potential component unit may provide specific financial benefits or 
impose specific financial burdens on the primary government. 
 
The City has no component units as of September 30, 2023. 

 
B. Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements 

The City has adopted the provisions of GASB Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements and 
Management Discussion and Analysis for State and Local Governments. The government-wide financial 
statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement of changes in net position) report 
information on all of the activities of the primary government. For the most part, the effect of interfund 
activity has been removed from these statements.  Governmental activities, which normally are 
supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from business-type 
activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support. 
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CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 
 
 
 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
B. Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements (continued) 

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or 
segment are offset by program revenues.  Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a 
specific function or segment.  Program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who 
purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or 
segment and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital 
requirements of a particular function or segment.  Taxes and other items not properly included among 
program revenues are reported instead as general revenues. 
 
Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds and proprietary funds. Major 
individual governmental funds and the individual enterprise fund are reported as separate columns in 
the fund financial statements. 
 
Since the governmental fund financial statements are presented on a different measurement focus and 
basis of accounting than the government-wide statements, governmental activities column, a 
reconciliation is presented on the same page or the page following each statement, which briefly explains 
the adjustments necessary to reconcile the fund based financial statements to the governmental activities 
column of the government-wide presentation. 

 
C. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 

 
The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement 
focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund financial statements.  Revenues 
are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing 
of related cash flows.  Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. 
Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by 
the provider have been met. 
 
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement 
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both 
measurable and available.  Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectible within the 
current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the 
government considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the 
current fiscal period.  Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual 
accounting.  However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated 
absences and claims and judgments, are recorded only when payment is due. 
 
Franchise taxes, licenses, and interest associated with the current fiscal period are all considered to be 
susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period.  All other 
revenue items are considered to be measurable and available only when cash is received by the City. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
C. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting (Continued) 

 
The City reports the following major funds: 
 
The General Fund is the government’s primary operating fund.  It accounts for all financial resources of 
the general government, except those required to be accounted for in another fund. 
 
The Capital Projects Fund is a governmental fund that accumulates resources for the construction of 
capital projects. 
 
The Marina Fund accounts for the assets, operations and maintenance of the City-owned marina. 
 
The Stormwater Fund accounts for the assets, operations and maintenance of the City-owned 
Stormwater operations. 
 
Private-sector standards of accounting and financial reporting are followed in both the government-wide 
and proprietary fund financial statements to the extent that those standards do not conflict with or 
contradict guidance of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. 
 
As a general rule the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government- wide financial 
statements.  Exceptions to this general rule are payments-in-lieu of taxes and other charges between the 
government’s water and sewer function and various other functions of the government. Elimination of 
these charges would distort the direct cost and program revenues reported for the various functions 
concerned. 
 
Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants for goods, 
services, or privileges provided, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and 
contributions, including special assessments. Internally dedicated resources are reported as general 
revenues rather than as program revenues.  Likewise, general revenues include all taxes. 
 
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating 
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in 
connection with a proprietary funds’ principal ongoing operations.  The principal operating revenues of 
the Marina Fund are charges to customers for sales and services. The principal operating revenues of 
the Stormwater Fund are assessments collected from the County. Operating expenses for enterprise 
funds include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets.  
All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and 
expenses. 
 
When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the City’s policy to use 
restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
D. Assets, Deferred Outflows, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows, and Net Position or Fund Balances  

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

The City’s cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits, and short-
term investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition. 

Deposits and Investments

The City’s cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits, and short-
term investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition. 

The City’s investment policy is to maintain funds in investments which yield the highest possible 
efficiency and return within the limitations established by Florida Statutes, Chapter 166.261. Provisions 
of those statutes authorize the City to invest in: 
 

a) Florida State Board of Administration Local Government Pooled Investment Fund. 

b) Bonds, notes or other obligations of the United States or for which the credit of the United States 
is pledged for the payment thereof. 

 
c) Interest-bearing time deposits, savings accounts or collective investment funds in banks or 

savings and loan associations organized under the laws of the United States. 
 

d) Obligations of the federal farm credit banks and the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation. 
 

e) Obligations of the Federal National Mortgage Association and the Government National 
Mortgage Association 

 
Investments in fixed income securities are stated at fair value.  Fair value is the amount at which an 
investment could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced 
or liquidation sale. 
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CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 
 
 
 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
D. Assets, Deferred Outflows, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows, and Net Position or Fund Balances 

(Continued) 

Receivables and Payables 

Activity between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at the 
end of the fiscal year are referred to as either “due to/from other funds” (i.e., the current portion of 
interfund loans) or “advances to/from other funds” (i.e., the non-current portion of interfund loans). All 
other outstanding balances between funds are reported as “due to/from other funds.”  Any residual 
balances outstanding between the governmental activities and business-type activities are reported in 
the government-wide financial statements as “internal balances.” 
 
All tax, accounts and intergovernmental receivables are shown net of an allowance for uncollectibles. 
Trade accounts receivables in excess of 180 days, if any, compromise the trade accounts receivable 
allowance for uncollectible including those for the Enterprise Funds. 
 
Property Taxes - Under Florida law, the assessment of all properties and the collection of all county, 
municipal and school board property taxes are consolidated in the offices of the County Property 
Appraiser and County Tax Collector. 
 
The tax levy of the City is established by the City Council prior to October 1 of each year and the Pinellas 
County Property Appraiser incorporates the City’s millages into the total tax levy, which includes the 
Pinellas County School Board tax requirements.  The City is permitted by state law to levy taxes up to 
ten mills of assessed valuation, exclusive of taxes levied for the payment of bonds. The millage rate 
assessed by the City was 2.0394. 
 
All property is reassessed according to its fair market value January 1 of each year. Each assessment roll 
is submitted to the Executive Director of the State Department of Revenue for review to determine if 
the rolls meet all of the appropriate requirements of State statutes. 
 
All taxes are due and payable on November 1 of each year or as soon thereafter as the assessment roll 
is certified and delivered to the Tax Collector.  All unpaid taxes become delinquent on April 1 following 
the year in which they are assessed.  Discounts are allowed for early payment at the rate of 4% in the 
month of November, 3% in the month of December, 2% in the month of January and 1% in the month 
of February.  The taxes paid in March are without discount. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
D. Assets, Deferred Outflows, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows, and Net Position or Fund Balances 

(Continued) 
 
Receivables and Payables (Continued) 

Delinquent taxes on real property bear interest at 18% per year.  On or prior to June 1 following the tax 
year, certificates are sold for all delinquent taxes on property. After sale, tax certificates bear interest at 
18% per year or at any lower rate bid by the buyer.  Application for a tax deed on any unredeemed tax 
certificates may be made by the certificate holder after a period of two years. 

Delinquent taxes on personal property bear interest at 18% per year until the tax is satisfied either by 
seizure and sale of the property or by the five-year statute of limitations. 

Because of the Pinellas County Tax Collector’s Office efficient system for selling tax certificates and 
remitting the proceeds to the City any delinquent or uncollected property taxes at year end are 
immaterial.  The City’s tax calendar is as follows: 
 

Valuation Date:  January 1 
Levy Date:  November 1 
Due Date:  March 31, succeeding year 
Lien Date:  April 1, succeeding year 

 
Capital Assets 
 
Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure assets (e.g., roads, bridges, 
sidewalks, and similar items), are reported in the applicable governmental or business-type activities 
columns in the government-wide financial statements.  Capital assets are defined by the government as 
assets with an initial, individual cost of more than $1,000 and an estimated useful life in excess of one 
year.  Such assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed. 
Donated capital assets are recorded at the date of acquisition. 
 
Donated capital assets, donated works of art and similar items, and capital assets received in a service 
concession arrangement should be reported at acquisition value rather than fair value. 
 
The cost of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend 
assets lives are not capitalized. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
D. Assets, Deferred Outflows, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows, and Net Position or Fund Balances 

(Continued) 

Capital Assets (Continued) 
 
Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are constructed. Interest 
incurred, if any, during the construction phase of capital assets of business- type activities is included 
as part of the capitalized value of the assets constructed. 
 
Property, plant, and equipment is depreciated using the straight-line method over the following 
estimated useful lives. 
 

   Years  
Buildings   45-55 
Building improvements  20-30 
Infrastructure  45-55 
Machinery and equipment  5-15 

Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources 
 
The City has implemented the provisions of GASB Statement Nos. 63 and 65.  Statement No. 63, 
Financial Reporting of Deferred Outflows of Resources, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net 
Position, provides financial reporting guidance for deferred outflows and inflows of resources, 
originally introduced and defined in GASB Concepts Statement No. 4, Elements of Financial 
Statements, as an acquisition or consumption, respectively, of net assets applicable to a future reporting 
period.  Further, Concepts Statement No. 4 also identifies net position as the residual of all other 
elements presented in a statement of financial position.  Statement No. 65, Items Previously Reported 
As Assets and Liabilities, reclassifies and recognizes certain items that were formerly reported as assets 
and liabilities as one of the four financial statement elements, (1) deferred outflows of resources, (2) 
outflows of resources, (3) deferred inflows of resources, and (4) inflows of resources. Concepts 
Statement No. 4 requires that deferred outflows and deferred inflows be recognized only in those 
instances specifically identified in GASB pronouncements.  Statement No. 65 provides that guidance. 
 
The City reports increases and decreases in net position that relate to future periods as deferred inflows 
of resources and deferred outflows of resources, respectively, in a separate section of the statement of 
net position.   
 
As of September 30, 2023, the City did not report any deferred inflows or deferred outflows of resources.  
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
D. Assets, Deferred Outflows, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows, and Net Position or Fund Balances 

(Continued) 
 
Compensated Absences 

It is the City’s policy to permit employees to accumulate earned but unused annual leave and sick pay 
benefits. Regular and full-time employees earn annual leave and sick leave after three months of 
employment. 

Annual leave is earned based on years of continuous and credible service as follows: 
 

Total Years of Service     Days Per Year  
1    5 
2 to 4    10 
5 to 10    15 

10 years and over   20 

A maximum amount of annual leave an employee may have to their credit at any time is forty days. 
 
An employee who has served six months or more and who terminates employment with the City is paid 
for any unused annual leave accumulated to the time of termination up to the maximum. This is provided 
that a two-week written notice is given. 

Sick leave for regular full-time employees is earned at the rate of eight hours for each month of service 
(at the completion of three months of continuous service) and may be accrued with no maximum. Upon 
termination, the employee is entitled to a lump-sum payment for accrued unused sick leave (up to a 
maximum of 720 hours). 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
D. Assets, Deferred Outflows, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows, and Net Position or Fund Balances 

(Continued) 

Compensated Absences (Continued) 

Upon termination, providing that the employee has given the department head no less than two weeks 
prior written notice, the following amount of sick pay leave will be received: 

    Years of Service  % of Accrued Hours (With Maximum of 720 Hours) 

Less than 10 years 25% 
10 years or more 100% 

Vested or accumulated annual leave and sick leave that is expected to be liquidated with expendable 
available financial resources is reported as an expenditure and a fund liability of the governmental fund 
that will pay it.  No expenditure is reported for these amounts.  Vested or accumulated annual leave and 
sick leave of the proprietary fund is recorded as an expense and liability of those funds as the benefits 
accrue to employees. 

All annual leave and sick pay is accrued when incurred in the government-wide and proprietary fund 
financial statements.  A liability for these amounts is reported in governmental funds only if they have 
matured. 

Unearned Revenue 

Unearned revenue recorded in the General Fund represents advanced grant payments and prepaid 
business registrations that are for the next fiscal year.  

Assessments 

Assessments recorded in the Capital Projects Fund are to fund the cost of capital improvements and 
essential services providing a special benefit to real property of certain residents of the City. 
 
Future assessments are recorded as accounts receivable and unearned revenue in the Statement of Net 
Position. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
D. Assets, Deferred Outflows, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows, and Net Position or Fund Balances 

(Continued) 

Non-Current Liabilities  

In the government-wide financial statements and proprietary fund types in the fund financial statements, 
long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental 
activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund type statement of net position.   
 
Classification of Net Position 

The government-wide and business-type fund financial statements utilize a net position presentation.  
Net position is categorized as net investment in capital assets, restricted and unrestricted. 

 Net Investment in Capital Assets - is intended to reflect the portion of net position which is associated 
with non-liquid, capital assets, net of related debt. 

 Restricted Net Position - are liquid assets, generated from revenues and net bond proceeds, which 
are not accessible for general use because of third-party (statutory, bond covenant or granting 
agency) limitations. 

 Unrestricted Net Position - represents unrestricted liquid assets. 

Classification of Fund Balance 

GASB Statement No. 54 (GASB 54), Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type 
Definitions, establishes fund balance classifications that comprise a hierarchy based primarily on the 
extent to which a government is bound to observe constraints imposed upon the use of the resources 
reported in governmental funds.  Fund balance classifications, under GASB 54, are comprised of the 
following: 
 
 Nonspendable - established to report items that are not expected to be converted to cash such as 

inventory and prepaid items; items not currently in cash form such as the long-term amount of loans 
and notes receivable as well as property acquired for resale; and items legally or contractually 
required to be maintained intact such as the corpus (or principal) of a permanent fund. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
D. Assets, Deferred Outflows, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows, and Net Position or Fund Balances 

(Continued) 

Classification of Fund Balance (Continued) 

 Restricted - includes represents the amount that can be spent only for specific purposes stipulated by 
(a) external resource providers such as creditors (by debt covenants), service/contractual 
agreement, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments; or (b) imposed 
by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.  This may be budgeted and 
reported in either the General Fund or the Capital Projects Fund.  Reserved fund balances 
indicate those portions of fund balances that are legally segregated for a specific use or not 
available for appropriation or expenditure. 

 Committed - includes fund balance amounts that can be used only for the specific purposes that are 
internally imposed by a formal action (a Resolution) of the government’s highest level of decision 
making authority, the City Council.  Commitments may be changed or lifted only by the City taking 
the same formal action (a Resolution) that imposed the constraint initially.  Contractual obligations 
are included to the extent that existing resources in the fund have been specifically committed for 
use in satisfying those contractual obligations. Commitment may be made for such purposes as, (a) 
major maintenance and repair projects; (b) meeting future obligations resulting from a natural 
disaster; (c) accumulating resources pursuant to stabilization arrangements; (d) establishing reserves 
for disasters; and/or (e) for setting aside amounts for specific projects. 
 

 Assigned - includes amounts intended to be used by the government for specific purposes.  The City 
Council by formal vote (or management designee via Council action) has the authority authorized 
to assign fund balance to a specific purpose.  In governmental funds other than the General Fund, 
assigned fund balance represents the amount that is not restricted or committed.  This indicates that 
the resources in other governmental funds are, at a minimum, intended to be used for the purpose of 
that fund. 
 
Assigned may or may not be appropriated for expenditures during the budget process and in the 
subsequent year depending on the timing of the project/reserve for which it was assigned.  This 
reflects management’s (City Manager, Committee or Department Head) intended use of resources 
and does not need further action by City Council. 
 
Resolution 2008-04 was approved by the City Council to establish a reserved amount with the 
intention of utilizing these resources for emergencies arising from catastrophic events such as 
hurricanes or other natural disasters. 
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CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 
 
 
 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
D. Assets, Deferred Outflows, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows, and Net Position or Fund Balances 

(Continued) 

Classification of Fund Balance (Continued) 

 Unassigned - includes residual positive fund balance within the General Fund which has not been 
classified within the other above-mentioned categories.  Unassigned fund balance may also include 
negative balances for any governmental fund if expenditures exceed amounts restricted, committed, 
or assigned for those specific purposes. 
 
These classifications reflect not only the nature of funds, but also provide clarity to the level of 
restriction placed upon fund balance.  Fund balance can have different levels of restraint, such as 
external versus internal compliance requirements.  Unassigned fund balance is a residual 
classification with the General Fund.  The General Fund should be the only fund that reports a 
positive unassigned balance.  In all other funds, unassigned is limited to negative residual fund 
balance. 
 
In circumstances when an expenditure is made for a purpose for which amounts are available in 
multiple fund balance classifications, fund balance is generally depleted in the order of restricted, 
committed, assigned, and unassigned. 
 

Minimum Level of Unassigned Fund Balance 

Unassigned fund balance is the residual classification for the General Fund and represents fund 
balance that has not been restricted, committed or assigned to specific purposes within the general 
fund. 

If, after the annual audit, prior committed or assigned fund balance causes the unassigned fund 
balance to fall below 20% of general fund operating expenditures, the City Manager will so advise 
City Council in order for the necessary action to be taken to restore the unassigned fund balance to 
at least 20% of General Fund operating expenditures. 

The City Manager and Finance Officer will prepare and submit a plan for committed and/or 
assigned fund balance reduction, expenditure reduction and/or revenue increase to City Council. The 
City shall take action necessary to restore the unassigned fund balance to acceptable levels within 
two years. 
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CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 
 
 
 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
E. Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of 
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  
Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 

F. Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

GASB Statement No. 96, “Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements”, provides 
guidance on the accounting and financial reporting for subscription-based information technology 
arrangements (SBITAs) for government end users (governments). This Statement (1) defines a SBITA; 
(2) establishes that a SBITA results in a right-to-use subscription asset an intangible asset and a 
corresponding subscription liability; (3) provides the capitalization criteria for outlays other than 
subscription payments, including implementation costs of a SBITA; and (4) requires note disclosures 
regarding a SBITA. To the extent relevant, the standards for SBITAs are based on the standards 
established in Statement No. 87, “Leases”, as amended.  The requirements of this Statement are effective 
for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2022. The standard had no impact on the Authority’s 
financial statements for the year ended September 30, 2023. 
 

G. Subsequent Events 

Management has evaluated subsequent events through April XX, 2024, which is the date the financial 
statements were available to be issued. 

NOTE 2 - STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY 

Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles for the 
general fund and the enterprise fund and are controlled on a fund and department level.  On or before May 31 
of each year, all departments of the City submit requests for appropriation to the Finance Officer so that a 
budget may be prepared.  The budget is prepared by fund, function and activity, and includes information 
on the past year, current year estimates and requested appropriations for the next fiscal year. All annual 
appropriations lapse at fiscal year-end. 
 
The proposed budget is presented by the City Manager to the City Council for review in July.  The City 
Council holds public hearings and may add to, subtract from, or change appropriations, but may not change 
the form of the budget.  Any changes in the budget must be within the revenues and reserves estimated as 
available by the Finance Officer or the revenue estimates must be changed by an affirmative vote of a 
majority of the City Council. 
 
Expenditures may not legally exceed budgeted appropriations at the departmental level. During the year 
there were no supplementary appropriations. 
 
Encumbrance accounting is employed in governmental funds.  Encumbrances (e.g., purchase orders, 
contracts) do not constitute expenditures or liabilities because the commitments will be reappropriated and 
honored during the subsequent year. 
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CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 
 
 
 
NOTE 3 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS 

 
  Deposits: 

 
At year-end, the carrying amount of the City’s deposits was $1,717,646 and the bank balance was 
$1,739,982.  The bank balance was covered by federal depository insurance and, for the amount in excess 
of such federal depository insurance, by the State of Florida’s Security for Public Deposits Act. Provisions 
of the Act require that public deposits may only be made at qualified public depositories.  The Act requires 
each qualified public depository to deposit with the State Treasurer eligible collateral equal to or in excess 
of the required collateral as determined by the provisions of the Act.  In the event of a failure by a qualified 
public depository, losses in excess of federal depository insurance and proceeds from the sale of the 
securities pledged by the defaulting depository, are assessed against the other qualified public depositories 
of the same type as the depository in default.   
 

  Fair Value Measurements: 
 
The City categorizes its fair value of investments within the fair value hierarchy established by generally 
accepted accounting principles pursuant to GASB Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and 
Application.  The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of the asset. Level 
1 inputs are quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other 
observable input, and Level 3 are significant unobservable inputs. 
 
Investments that are not evidenced by securities that exist in physical or book-entry form include 
investments in open-ended mutual funds and pools managed by other governments. 
 
The following table presents assets carried at fair value at September 30, 2023: 
 

Overall
Credit Rating Hierachy
Rating Agency Level

Florida State Board of Administration
  Local Government Pooled Investment
  Fund (Florida Prime) $ 3,291,676 AAAM S&P 1

Fair Value

 
 

  Interest Rate Risk: 
 
The City manages its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates through its adopted 
investment policies.  The City limits the effective duration of its investment portfolio through the adoption 
of nationally recognized risk measure benchmarks such as the Lehman Brothers Aggregate Bond Index. 
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CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 
 
 
 
NOTE 3 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 

 
  Credit Risk: 

 
Consistent with Chapter 218, Florida Statutes, the City’s investment guidelines limit its fixed income 
investments to a quality rating of ‘A’ or equivalent as rated by one or more recognized bond rating service 
at the time of purchase.  Fixed income investments which are downgraded to ‘BAA’ or equivalent must be 
liquidated within a reasonable period of time not to exceed twelve months.  Fixed income investments which 
are downgraded below ‘BAA’ shall be liquidated immediately. 
 
The City has adopted a written investment policy in accordance with Section 218.145, Florida Statutes.  
That statute is intended to minimize interest rate and credit risk by directing the City to invest only in 
authorized investments summarized as follows: 

 
a) The Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund or any Intergovernmental investment pool 

authorized pursuant to the Florida Interlocal Cooperation Act as provided in s. 163.01. 
b) Securities and Exchange Commission registered money market funds with the highest credit quality 

rating from a nationally recognized rating agency. 
c) Interest-bearing time deposits or savings accounts in qualified public depositories as defined in 

s. 280.02. 
d) Direct obligations of the United States Treasury. 
e) Federal agencies and instrumentalities. 
f) Securities of, or other interests in, any open-end or closed-end management- type investment 

company or investment trust registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940, 15 U.S.C. ss. 
80a-1 et seq., as amended from time to time, provided that the portfolio of such investment company 
or investment trust is limited to obligations of the United States Government or any agency or 
instrumentality thereof and to repurchase agreements fully collateralized by such United States 
Government obligations, and provided that such investment company or investment trust takes 
delivery of such collateral either directly or through an authorized custodian. 

 
The Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund (Florida PRIME) is an investment pool administered by 
the Florida State Board of Administration that is governed by Chapters 215 and 218, Florida Statutes, and 
Chapter 19-7 of the Florida Administrative Code.  A three-member Board of Trustees governs the State 
Board of Administration and is made up of the State’s Governor as chairman, Chief Financial Officer, and 
Attorney General.  This Board is empowered by Florida law to invest funds at the request of local 
governments.  They delegate authority to the Executive Director and Chief Investment Officer to carry out 
the strategic direction of the organization.  Florida PRIME provides eligible participants a cost-effective 
investment vehicle for their surplus funds.  Its investment strategy emphasizes, in order of importance, 
safety, liquidity and competitive yield.  Florida PRIME is managed by an industry leader in professional 
money management, maintains conservative investment policies, a Standard & Poor’s AAA(m) rating, has 
enhanced transparency, and extensive governance oversight.  The Florida PRIME is treated as “2a-7 like” 
pool in accordance with GASB Statements Number 31 and Number 59 and is valued using the pooled- share 
price (amortized cost), which approximates fair value.  The Florida PRIME funds may be withdrawn upon 
demand.  Investment income is recognized as earned and is allocated to participants of the Fund based on 
their equity participation. 
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CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 
 
 
 
NOTE 4 - RECEIVABLES AND DUE FROM OTHER GOVERNMENTS 

 
Receivables at September 30, 2023, were as follows: 
 

Accounts $ 334,958 $ -                  $ 376                  $ -                  $ 335,334
Utilities 55,925 -                  -                  -                  55,925
Other 73,487 746,847 -                  -                  820,334

$ 464,370           $ 746,847           $ 376                  $ -                  $ 1,211,593          

Government
Primary
Total

Fund
Marina Stormwater

Fund

Business Type Activities

Projects
Capital

General

Governmental Activities

 
 
Accounts receivable for the General Fund includes $282,053 from a resident of the City for code violations 
for failure to meet construction schedule timelines ordered by Special Master on May 19, 2021. The City 
has no intention to forgive these fines and believes the balance will be fully collectible. Therefore, the City 
has not recorded an allowance as of September 30, 2023. 
 
 

NOTE 5 - CHANGES IN CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
Capital asset activity for the year ended September 30, 2023, was as follows: 
 

Governmental Activities
Capital assets not being depreciated

Land $ 1,426,738 $ -                $ -              $ 1,426,738
Total capital assets not being depreciated 1,426,738     -                -              1,426,738       

Capital assets being depreciated
Buildings and improvements 4,225,071 -                -              4,225,071
Improvements other than buildings 6,903,050 1,950,356     (22,105)       8,831,301
Machinery and equipment 1,312,772 49,035          (49,672)       1,312,135

Total capital assets being depreciated 12,440,893   1,999,391     (71,777)       14,368,507     

Less accumulated depreciation
Buildings and improvements (1,157,112)    (97,160)         -              (1,254,272)      
Improvements other than buildings (1,849,313)    (339,126)       19,804        (2,168,635)      
Machinery and equipment (402,887)       (77,178)         44,003        (436,062)         

Total accumulated depreciation (3,409,312)    (513,464)       63,807        (3,858,969)      

Total capital assets being depreciated, net 9,031,581     1,485,927     (7,970)         10,509,538     

Governmental Activities, net $ 10,458,319   $ 1,485,927     $ (7,970)         $ 11,936,276     

Business-Type Activities
Capital assets being depreciated

Improvements other than buildings $ 2,478,728 999,477        (10,725)       $ 3,467,480       
Total capital assets being depreciated 2,478,728     999,477        (10,725)       3,467,480       

Less accumulated depreciation
Improvements other than buildings (806,834)       (127,942)       10,725        (924,051)         

Total accumulated depreciation (806,834)       (127,942)       10,725        (924,051)         

Business-Type Activities, net $ 1,671,894     $ 871,535        $ -              $ 2,543,429       

Balance
Beginning Ending
Balance Increases Decreases
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CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 
 
 
 
NOTE 5 - CHANGES IN CAPITAL ASSETS (Continued) 

 
Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the primary government as follows: 

Governmental Activities
General government        $ 124,574
Physical environment 339,126
Culture and recreation 49,764

Total depreciation expense - governmental activities $ 513,464    

Business-type activites:
Marina $ 2,567        
Stormwater 125,375    

Total depreciation expense- business- type activities $ 127,942    
 

 
 

NOTE 6 - DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PENSION PLAN 
 
The City provides retirement benefits for all of its full-time employees through a defined contribution 401(a) 
plan administered by the Florida League of Cities, Inc. under their prototype Profit-Sharing Plan and Trust 
Agreement.  At September 30, 2023 there were nine plan members.  In a defined contribution plan, benefits 
depend solely on amounts contributed to the plan plus investment earnings.  Employees are eligible to 
participate after ninety days of employment.  The Plan requires the City contribute ten percent of their 
compensation.  The City’s contributions for each employee (and interest allocated to the employee’s 
account) are fully vested after five years of continuous service.  City contributions for, and interest forfeited 
by, employees who leave employment before five years of service are used to reduce the City’s current-
period contribution requirement.  Plan provisions and contribution requirements are established and may be 
amended by the City Council. 
 
The City’s total payroll in the fiscal year was $393,735.  The City’s contributions were calculated using the 
participants’ salary amount of $394,908.  The City made the required contributions totaling $34,147 
representing 10% of participants’ salary. 
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CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 
 
 
 
NOTE 7 - DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN 

 
The City maintains a deferred compensation plan (plan) under the provisions of Section 457 of the Internal 
Revenue Code, as amended.  This law stipulates that all assets and income of the plan must be held in trust 
for the exclusive benefit of the Plan participants and their beneficiaries.  The City’s plan is administered by 
the Florida League of Cities, Inc. and provides the plan participants with the option to invest in thirteen 
different registered investment funds (mutual funds).  Although the City is the Trustee of the plan, the City 
has no administrative involvement and performs no investing function for the plan and has not therefore, 
reported the plan in this financial report. 

NOTE 8 - RISK MANAGEMENT 

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and distribution of assets; 
errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters.  To mitigate those risks, the City continues 
to carry commercial insurance for risks of loss including health, life, building and contents, employee bonds, 
mobile property, flood, windstorm and employee accident insurance.  Settled claims from these risks have 
not exceeded commercial insurance coverage in any of the past three fiscal years.  The City has not had any 
significant coverage reductions under these policies in the last three fiscal years. 
 
 

NOTE 9 - NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 
 
Changes in Non-Current Liabilities 

The following is a summary of changes in long-term debt and other non-current liabilities of the City: 

Governmental activities:
Suntrust Loan- Series 2005 $ 480,000 $ -                $ (160,000)        $ 320,000 $ 120,000
Series 2018A Revenue Bonds 694,200         -                (40,114)          654,086 33,357
Series 2018B Revenue Bonds 108,200         -                (4,675)            103,525 4,896
Series 2018C Revenue Bonds 386,147         -                (22,132)          364,015 18,563
Series 2023 Revenue Note -                 381,600        -                 381,600 31,188
Compensated absences 69,859           24,312          (3,881)            90,290 46,449

Total governmental activities, long
term debt and other liabilities $ 1,738,406      $ 405,912        $ (230,802)        $ 1,913,516       $ 254,453        

Business-type activities:
Stormwater Revenue Note- Series 2020 $ 23,120           $ -                $ (15,277)          $ 7,843              $ 7,843            
Series 2023 Revenue Note -                 1,738,400     -                 1,738,400       142,079        

Total business-type activities, long
term debt and other liabilities $ 23,120           $ 1,738,400     $ (15,277)          $ 1,746,243       $ 149,922        
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CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 
 
 
 
NOTE 9 - NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES (Continued) 

 
Description of Long-Term Debt and Other Liabilities Outstanding   

Governmental Activities
Compensated absences $ 46,449            $ 43,841            $ 90,290          

$3,000,000, City of Belleair Beach Revenue Note, Series 2005, 
due in quarterly installments of $40,000 through 2025; 
interest payable at 4.52%.  Secured by pledged non-ad valorem 
revenuesof the City.  Proceeds used to acquire land and 
construct the City Hall. 120,000          200,000          320,000        

$981,017, City of Bellair Beach, Florida Revenue Bonds Series 2018A; 
due in annual installments of $72,055 to $117,050 through 2038;
 interest payable at 3.65%. Secured by revenues of the City.
 Proceeds used to finance utility undergrounding capital project. 33,357            620,729          654,086        

$256,191, City of Bellair Beach, Florida Revenue Bonds Series 2018B;
due in annual installments of $12,956 to $20,372 through 2038;
interest payable at 4.62%.  Secured by revenues of the City.
 Proceeds used to finance utility undergrounding capital project. 4,896              98,629            103,525        

$512,367, City of Bellair Beach, Florida Revenue Bonds Series 2018C;
due in annual installments of $40,018 to $65,006 through 2038;
 interest payable at 3.65%.  Secured by revenues of the City.
 Proceeds used to finance utility undergrounding capital project. 18,563            345,452          364,015        

$381,600, City of Belleair Beach, Florida Capital Improvement Note, Series 2023
due in annual installments of $31,188 to $45,980 through 2033;
interest payable at 4.36%. Secured by revenues of the City.
Proceeds used to finance street resurfacing capital improvements. 31,188            350,412          381,600        

Total Governmental Activities $ 254,453          $ 1,659,063       $ 1,913,516     

Business-Type Activities
Revenue Bonds
$45,000, City of Belleair Beach, Florida, Stormwater Utility System

Revenue Note, Series 2020; due in annual installments of
$15,930 through 2024; interest payable at 3.75%.  Secured by net
revenues  of the City.  Proceeds used to fund the acquisition
 and installation of capital improvements for the City. $ 7,843              $ -                  $ 7,843            

$1,738,400, City of Belleair Beach, Florida, Capital Improvement Note,
Series 2023; due in annual installments of $142,079 to $209,467;
interest payable at 4.36%.  Secured by revenues of the City.
Proceeds used to finance stormwater system capital improvements. 142,079          1,596,321       1,738,400     

Total Business-Type Activities $ 149,922          $ 1,596,321       $ 1,746,243     

Non-CurrentCurrent

Current Long-Term Total

Total
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CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 
 
 
 
NOTE 9 - NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES (Continued) 

 
Annual Requirements to Amortize Debt Outstanding 

The annual requirements to amortize all debt outstanding as of September 30, 2023, are as follows: 

 Years Ending
September 30,

2024 $ 120,000         $ 9,494            $ 33,357            $ 24,151            $ 4,896            $ 4,783            
2025 160,000         6,330            34,596            22,919            5,128            4,557            
2026 40,000           452               35,883            21,642            5,370            4,320            
2027 -                 -                37,217            20,317            5,624            4,072            
2028 -                 -                38,600            18,942            5,890            3,812            

2029-2033 -                 -                215,628          72,245            33,902          14,710          
2034-2038 -                 -                258,805          29,365            42,715          6,102            

$ 320,000         $ 16,276          $ 654,086          $ 209,581          $ 103,525        $ 42,356          

 Years Ending
September 30,

2024 $ 18,563           $ 13,434          $ 31,188            $ 16,301            $ 208,004        $ 68,163          
2025 19,254           12,749          32,563            14,927            251,541        61,482          
2026 19,971           12,038          33,998            13,492            135,222        51,944          
2027 20,711           11,301          35,496            11,993            99,048          47,683          
2028 21,482           10,537          37,061            10,429            103,033        43,720          

2029-2033 120,001         40,186          211,294          26,153            580,825        153,294        
2034-2038 144,033         16,335          -                 -                  445,553        51,802          

$ 364,015         $ 116,580        $ 381,600          $ 93,295            $ 1,823,226     $ 478,088        

Series 2023
Revenue Note

 Principal Interest

Series 2018A
Revenue Bond

 Principal Interest

Series 2005

Interest

Series 2018B
Revenue Bond

 Principal Interest

 Principal Interest
Total

Series 2018C
Revenue Bond

 Principal Interest

Revenue Note
 Principal 
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CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 
 
 
 
NOTE 9 - NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES (Continued) 

 
Business-Type Activities 
 

 Years Ending
September 30, Interest

2024 $ 7,843             $ 121               $ 142,079          $ 74,262            
2025 -                 -                148,341          68,000            
2026 -                 -                154,879          61,462            
2027 -                 -                161,705          54,636            
2028 -                 -                168,833          47,508            

2029-2033 -                 -                962,563          119,142          

$ 7,843             $ 121               $ 1,738,400       $ 425,010          

Series 2023
Revenue Note

 Principal Interest

Series 2020
Stormwater Revenue Note
 Principal 

 
 
 

NOTE 10 - INTERFUND TRANSFERS 
 
The composition of interfund transfers at September 30, 2023 is as follows: 
 

Transfers Out

General Fund Stormwater Fund $ 1,112,000 

Transfers In Amount
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CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 
 
 
 
NOTE 11 - ASSESSMENTS  

 
The property owners of Bellevue Estates Island (BEI) were asked to sign a petition to City Council regarding 
the imposition of special assessments for fund utility undergrounding. 

The special assessment area consists of a total of 115 properties.  The cost of the utility undergrounding will 
be repaid as a non-ad valorem special assessment imposed against each property.  The property owners may 
voluntarily prepay the special assessment, in full, at any time.  Special assessments which are not prepaid 
will be collected in annual installments on the property tax bill mailed by the county tax collector each 
November, over a period not to exceed 20 years.  Collection of annual installments began November 2018.  
The special assessment will be secured by a lien against the property in case of default. 
 
The original assessments were imposed by City Resolution No. 2018-03 adopted by City Council on March 
5, 2018.  In July 2018, the City received binding construction cost estimates for the project which are higher 
than the estimates used to calculate the original assessments resulting in the need for additional assessment 
funding in order to pay for the project. 
 
The Supplemental Assessment will be in addition to the Original Assessments imposed in March 2018. An 
additional $640,000 in revenue will be collected through the Special Assessments.  The City Council 
adopted Resolution No. 2018-16 to impose the Special Assessments on August 16, 2018. 
 
Annual installments include annual interest of 3.65% plus annual collection and administration cost incurred 
by the City each year. The annual assessment revenue was $117,590 for the year ended September 30, 2023. 
 
There are two categories of property owners in Bellevue Estates Island.  The first category chose to have 
the undergrounding done on their property prior to the City’s undergrounding project.  The properties in 
this category have a low annual assessment because they do not have to pay for any onsite improvements 
since they already had their utilities undergrounded.  The annual assessment is as follows: 
 
 Rate of Assessment per dwelling unit $ 11,078 
 Rate of supplemental assessment per dwelling unit  5,518 
 Total $ 16,596 

 Maximum annual payment $ 1,267.70 
 Maximum payment term  20 years 
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CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 
 
 
 
NOTE 11 - ASSESSMENTS (Continued) 

 
The second category of homeowners did not previously have the utilities from the poles to their homes 
underground prior to the City’s undergrounding project. These properties pay a higher annual assessment 
that includes their proportionate share of the improvements on their property. The annual assessment is as 
follows: 
 

Rate of Assessment per dwelling unit $ 11,078 
Rate of supplemental assessment per dwelling unit  5,518 
Onsite improvements  4,500 
Total $ 21,096 

Maximum annual payment $ 1,611.70 
Maximum payment term  20 years 

 
NOTE 12 - POST-EMPLOYMENT HEALTH CARE BENEFITS 

 
GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Postemployment Benefits 
Other Than Pensions, requires governments to account for other postemployment benefits (OPEB) on an 
accrual basis, rather than on a pay-as-you-go-basis. The effect is the recognition of an actuarially determined 
expense when a future retiree earns their postemployment benefits, rather than when they use their 
postemployment benefits. 
 
Postemployment health care benefits are made available to the City’s terminated employees in accordance 
with the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985 (COBRA). Under COBRA, the City is 
required to offer an election to deceased or terminated participants, their spouses or dependents, to continue 
coverage in the health plan provided by the City.  The cost of coverage which the City may charge the 
participant may not exceed 102% of the applicable premium. 
 
Employees who retire from the City of Belleair Beach (City), and eligible dependents and survivors, are 
eligible to continue to participate in the City’s health insurance programs at the “blended” employee group 
rate which is determined annually by the City and approved by the City Council.  Retirees have 31 days to 
elect to enroll in the City’s health insurance plan in which they were participating at the time of retirement 
unless otherwise stated in a plan document or collective bargaining agreement.  As of September 30, 2023, 
there were no eligible retirees and dependents participating in the City’s health program. 
 
The City provides no funding for any portion of the premiums after retirement. However, the City recognizes 
that there may be an “implicit subsidy” arising as a result of the blended rate premium when retiree health 
care costs, on average, are higher than active employee healthcare costs. The plan is not accounted for as a 
trust fund as an irrevocable trust has not been established to fund the plan. The plan does not issue a separate 
financial report. 
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CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 
 
 
 
NOTE 12 - POST-EMPLOYMENT HEALTH CARE BENEFITS (Continued) 

 
As of September 30, 2023, the current health care premiums for the City’s health plan are already age 
adjusted.  Therefore, the contributions of the retirees and the age adjusted premiums would be equal. 
According to the actuary, this would create a liability of $0. 
 
It is important to note that if the City switches to a group plan with blended premiums or decides to pay for 
retirees healthcare benefits in the future, then this liability will no longer be $0, and a full actuarial valuation 
will need to be performed. 
 
 

NOTE 13 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 

Grant Receipts: 
 
Amounts received or receivable from grants are subject to audit and adjustment by the grantor.  Any 
disallowed claims, including amounts already collected, may constitute a liability of the applicable funds.  
The amount, if any, of expenditures which may be disallowed by the grantor cannot be determined at this 
time, although the City expects such amount, if any, to be immaterial. 
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Revenues:        
Intergovernmental $ 1,100,425 $ 2,035,336 $ 1,909,712 $ (125,624)         
Assessments 112,145 112,145 117,590 5,445              
Interest on investments 2,000 2,000 9,581 7,581              

Total revenues          1,214,570    2,149,481    2,036,883       (112,598)         

Expenditures:   
Current        

General government -               6,233 5,692 541                 
Physical environment 1,000           1,000 616 384                 

Capital outlay 1,315,675 3,342,078 1,898,561 1,443,517       
Debt service         

Principal              216,682 227,382 226,921 461                 
Interest            66,388 66,388 63,297 3,091              

Total expenditures               1,599,745    3,643,081    2,195,087 1,447,994       

Excess (deficiency) of revenues         
over (under) expenditures   (385,175)      (1,493,600)   (158,204)        1,335,396       

Other Financing Sources (Uses):       
Transfers in 385,175 1,112,000 1,112,000       -                  
Proceeds from issuance of debt -               381,600 381,600          -                  

Total other financing sources        385,175       1,493,600    1,493,600       -                  

Net change in fund balance          $ -               $ -               1,335,396       $ 1,335,396       

Fund Balance:         
Beginning of year               602,485

End of year                  $ 1,937,881       

Final Budget -
Positive

Original Budget Final Budget Actual (Negative)

Variance with

CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN

FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 
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Operating Revenues:        
Charges for services            $ 88,060             $ 77,560             $ 78,072             $ 512                  

Operating Expenses:
Supplies 69,810          69,810 71,010 (1,200)              
Office and utilities 16,000          16,000 2,382 13,618             
Depreciation 2,950            2,950 2,567 383                  

Total operating expenses 88,760             88,760             75,959 12,801             

Operating income (loss) (700)                 (11,200)            2,113               (12,289)            

Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses):
Investment earnings         700 700 746 46                    

Income (Loss) Before Transfers -                   (10,500) 2,859 (12,243)

Transfers:
Transfers in -             10,500 746                  46                    

Change in net position $ -                   $ -                   2,859               $ (12,243)            

Net Position:
Beginning of year               365,686           

End of year                  $ 368,545           

Original Budget Final Budget Actual (Negative)

Final Budget -
Positive

Variance with

CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN

NET POSITION - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - MARINA FUND
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 
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Operating Revenues:        
Intergovernmental $ -                   $ 802,868           $ 802,868 $ -                   
Charges for services 175,000           140,000 172,716 32,716             

175,000           942,868           975,584           32,716             

Operating Expenses:
   Personnel services 33,475             33,475 33,475 -                   

Contractual services 41,050          41,050 16,455 24,595             
Repairs and maintenance 30,000          30,000 28,563 1,437               
Professional fees -                28,393             28,393 -                   
Capital outlay 548,680        3,775,863        -                   3,775,863        
Depreciation 84,000          84,000             125,375 (41,375)            

Total operating expenses               737,205           3,992,781        232,261           3,760,520        

Operating income (loss) (562,205)          (3,049,913)       743,323           (3,727,804)       

Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses):                  
Debt proceeds -                   1,738,400        -                   1,738,400        
Debt service - principal (15,275)            (15,275)            -                   (15,275)            
Interest expense (655)                 (655)                 (653)                 (2)                     

(15,930)            1,722,470        (653)                 1,723,123        

Income (Loss) Before Transfers (578,135)          (1,327,443)       742,670           (2,004,681)       

Transfers:
Transfers in 578,135           -                   -                   -                   

Appropriation of Fund Balance -                   1,327,443        -                   (1,327,443)       

Change in net position $ -                   $ -                   742,670           $ (3,332,124)       

Net Position:
Beginning of year               1,740,994        

End of year                  $ 2,483,664        

Original Budget

Final Budget -
Positive

Final Budget Actual (Negative)

Variance with

CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN

NET POSITION - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - STORMWATER FUND
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 

-55-

WORKING 0
0,0000,000

-             
548,68048,6       
84,00084,000              

737,205737,20

(562(56                    

(Expenses):            xpenses):            

ipalipal

(Loss) Before TranLoss) Before Tra

ransfers:sfers:
Transfers inTransfers in

opriatat

NGNKIN
COPY

$ 802,$868
40,0000,000 1

942,86842,     

33,4753,4
41,041,0
3

PY 
ActualA

PY
OPOP

-  Fin
VarianVa

PRELIM
INAR

-    1,7            
(15,275)(15,275)         

(655)(655)                
(15,930)15,930)                     

                    (578,1(578,1

  

und Balanceund Balanc

et positionet positio

sition:sition:
eginning of year      eginning of year     

year     year   

ARY 86363               
84,00084,000

3,992,7813,992,781   

(3,049,913)(3,049,913             RYRYRYRY
AR

MINN
L

DRAFT
-                   -               

32,71632,716                   
8484 32,73                          

33,47533,475
16,45516,455
28,56328,563

3939

t -t -
veve

gative)ive)

AF
RA



G
en

er
al

 G
ov

er
nm

en
t:

C
on

tr
ol

:
A

dm
in

is
tra

tiv
e

$
14

,5
12

,3
82

$
1,

42
6,

73
8

$
4,

22
5,

07
1

$
8,

83
1,

30
1

   
   

   
  

$
29

,2
72

   
   

   
   

   
 

Ex
ec

ut
iv

e
24

,0
03

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
24

,0
03

   
   

   
   

   
 

Le
gi

sl
at

iv
e

43
,3

68
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

43
,3

68
   

   
   

   
   

 

To
ta

l g
en

er
al

 g
ov

er
nm

en
t

14
,5

79
,7

53
   

   
   

1,
42

6,
73

8
   

   
   

  
4,

22
5,

07
1

   
   

   
  

8,
83

1,
30

1
   

   
   

  
96

,6
43

   
   

   
   

   
 

Pu
bl

ic
 w

or
ks

13
1,

23
8

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
13

1,
23

8
   

   
   

   
  

R
ec

re
at

io
n

1,
08

4,
25

4
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

1,
08

4,
25

4
   

   
   

  

To
ta

l G
ov

er
nm

en
ta

l F
un

ds
 

C
ap

ita
l A

ss
et

s
$

15
,7

95
,2

45
   

   
   

$
1,

42
6,

73
8

   
   

   
  

$
4,

22
5,

07
1

   
   

   
  

$
8,

83
1,

30
1

   
   

   
  

$
1,

31
2,

13
5

To
ta

l
La

nd
B

ui
ld

in
gs

B
ui

ld
in

gs
Eq

ui
pm

en
t

O
th

er
 T

ha
n

Im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

20
23

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
B

EL
LE

A
IR

 B
EA

C
H

, F
LO

R
ID

A
C

A
PI

TA
L 

A
SS

ET
S 

U
SE

D
 IN

 T
H

E 
O

PE
R

A
TI

O
N

 O
F

SE
PT

EM
B

ER
 3

0,
 2

02
3 

A
N

D
 2

02
2

G
O

VE
R

N
M

EN
TA

L 
FU

N
D

S
C

O
M

PA
R

A
TI

VE
 S

C
H

ED
U

LE
S 

B
Y 

FU
N

C
TI

O
N

 A
N

D
 A

C
TI

VI
TY

-5
6-

WORKING 
2

$
1,

42
6,

7
$

1,
42

6
,0

0300
3

00
3

0
43

,3
68

43
,3

68
43

,3
68

,3
68

14
,5

79
,7

53
14

,5
79

,7
53

13
1,

23
8

13
1,

23
8

1,
08

4,
25

1,
08

4,
25

G
$$

   
   

La
nd

La
n G INN KINN

RK
OROR

COPY 
20

23
20

23

TI
VI

TYTY

CO
-  

PRELIM
INARY

4,
22

5,
07

1
4,

22
5,

07 --
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
 --

4
26

,7
38

26
,7

38
4

---- --

4545
$$

1,
42

6
1,

4
   

   
   

 
   

 

Y
in

gs
in

g Y
ARARY
ARAR
NA

MMMIN MIN

DR
B

u
B

u
O

th
er

 T
O

th
Im

pr
ov

em
e

Im
pr

ov
em

e DDDRAFT

DR



G
en

er
al

 G
ov

er
nm

en
t:

C
on

tr
ol

:
A

dm
in

is
tra

tiv
e

$
12

,5
84

,1
31

$
1,

42
6,

73
8

$
4,

22
5,

07
1

$
6,

90
3,

05
0

   
   

   
  

$
29

,2
72

   
   

   
   

   
 

Ex
ec

ut
iv

e
24

,0
03

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
24

,0
03

   
   

   
   

   
 

Le
gi

sl
at

iv
e

43
,3

68
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

43
,3

68
   

   
   

   
   

 

To
ta

l g
en

er
al

 g
ov

er
nm

en
t

12
,6

51
,5

02
   

   
   

1,
42

6,
73

8
   

   
   

  
4,

22
5,

07
1

   
   

   
  

6,
90

3,
05

0
   

   
   

  
96

,6
43

   
   

   
   

   
 

Pu
bl

ic
 w

or
ks

11
8,

61
4

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
11

8,
61

4
   

   
   

   
  

R
ec

re
at

io
n

1,
09

7,
51

5
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

1,
09

7,
51

5
   

   
   

  

To
ta

l G
ov

er
nm

en
ta

l F
un

ds
 

C
ap

ita
l A

ss
et

s
$

13
,8

67
,6

31
   

   
   

$
1,

42
6,

73
8

   
   

   
  

$
4,

22
5,

07
1

   
   

   
  

$
6,

90
3,

05
0

   
   

   
  

$
1,

31
2,

77
2

To
ta

l
La

nd
B

ui
ld

in
gs

B
ui

ld
in

gs
Eq

ui
pm

en
t

20
22

Im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

O
th

er
 T

ha
n

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
B

EL
LE

A
IR

 B
EA

C
H

, F
LO

R
ID

A
C

A
PI

TA
L 

A
SS

ET
S 

U
SE

D
 IN

 T
H

E 
O

PE
R

A
TI

O
N

 O
F

G
O

VE
R

N
M

EN
TA

L 
FU

N
D

S
C

O
M

PA
R

A
TI

VE
 S

C
H

ED
U

LE
S 

B
Y 

FU
N

C
TI

O
N

 A
N

D
 A

C
TI

VI
TY

SE
PT

EM
B

ER
 3

0,
 2

02
3 

A
N

D
 2

02
2

(C
on

tin
ue

d)

-5
7-

WORKING 
$

1,
42

6,
7

$
1,

42
6,

00
3

43
,3

68
3,

36
8

12
,6

51
,5

02
12

,6
51

,5
02

11
8,

61
4

11
8,

61
4

1,
09

7,
51

1,
09

7,
51

$$
G

11
   

   
 

La
nd

La GNN KINN
RK
OROR

COCCCOPY 
20

2202
2

TI
VI

TYTY

CO
-  

PRELIM
INARY

4,
22

5,
07

1
4,

22
5,

0 --
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 --

4
26

,7
38

26
,7

38
4

---- ---

$$
1,

42
6,

1,
4

   
   

   
 

   
   

   
 

Y
ngng

YRRY
ARAR
NA

MMMIN MIN

DR
B

ui
B

u

Im
pr

ov
em

en
Im

pr
ov

em
e

O
th

er
 T

O
th DDDRAFT

DR



G
en

er
al

 G
ov

er
nm

en
t:

C
on

tr
ol

:
A

dm
in

is
tra

tiv
e

$
12

,5
84

,1
31

$
1,

95
0,

35
6

   
   

   
  

$
22

,1
05

   
   

   
   

   
 

$
14

,5
12

,3
82

   
   

   
Ex

ec
ut

iv
e

24
,0

03
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
24

,0
03

   
   

   
   

   
 

Le
gi

sl
at

iv
e

43
,3

68
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
43

,3
68

   
   

   
   

   
 

To
ta

l g
en

er
al

 g
ov

er
nm

en
t

12
,6

51
,5

02
   

   
   

1,
95

0,
35

6
   

   
   

  
22

,1
05

   
   

   
   

   
 

14
,5

79
,7

53
   

   
   

Pu
bl

ic
 w

or
ks

11
8,

61
4

12
,6

24
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

13
1,

23
8

   
   

   
   

  
R

ec
re

at
io

n
1,

09
7,

51
5

36
,4

11
   

   
   

   
   

 
49

,6
72

   
   

   
   

   
 

1,
08

4,
25

4
   

   
   

  

To
ta

l G
ov

er
nm

en
ta

l F
un

ds
 

C
ap

ita
l A

ss
et

s
$

13
,8

67
,6

31
   

   
   

$
1,

99
9,

39
1

   
   

   
  

$
71

,7
77

   
   

   
   

   
 

$
15

,7
95

,2
45

   
   

   

Fu
nc

tio
n 

an
d 

A
ct

iv
ity

B
eg

in
ni

ng
A

dd
iti

on
s

D
ed

uc
tio

ns
En

di
ng

Fu
nd

C
ap

ita
l A

ss
et

s
Fu

nd
C

ap
ita

l A
ss

et
s

G
ov

er
nm

en
ta

l
G

ov
er

nm
en

ta
l

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
B

EL
LE

A
IR

 B
EA

C
H

, F
LO

R
ID

A
C

A
PI

TA
L 

A
SS

ET
S 

U
SE

D
 IN

 T
H

E 
O

PE
R

A
TI

O
N

 O
F

G
O

VE
R

N
M

EN
TA

L 
FU

N
D

S
SC

H
ED

U
LE

 O
F 

C
H

A
N

G
ES

 B
Y 

FU
N

C
TI

O
N

 A
N

D
 A

C
TI

VI
TY

YE
A

R
 E

N
D

ED
 S

EP
TE

M
B

ER
 3

0,
 2

02
3 

-5
8-

WORKING

$
12

,5
84

,1
3

12
,5

84 24
,0

24 44

   NGN
COPY 

ni
ngg

A
d

se
tset
s

VI
TYY

CC

-  

PRELIM
INARY 

1,
95

0,
35

6
1,

95
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

--
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   

50
2

1,
95

1,
95

   
   

   
 

   
   

   
 

11
8,

61
4

18
,6

14
   

1,
09

7,
51

5
7,

51
5

$$
13

,8
67

,6
3

13
,8

67
,6

3
   

   
  

   
   

RY
ARAR
NAA ININ

DRAFT
D

ed
uc

tio
n

D
ed

uc
tio DDR



III. STATISTICAL SECTION

WORKING 
III. STATISTICA. STATISTICA

COPY -  

PRELIM
INARY 

CTIONCTION

DRAFT



Contents Page

Financial Trends 59

Revenue Capacity 69

Debt Capacity 74

Demographic and Economic Information 78

Operating Information 82

These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to
help the reader understand the environment within which the
government’s financial activities take place.

These schedules present information to help the reader assess the
affordability of government’s current levels of outstanding debt
and the government’s ability to issue additional debt in the future. 

These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the
reader understand how the information in the government’s
financial report relates to the services the government provides
and the activities it performs.

CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA
STATISTICAL SECTION

This part of the City of Belleair Beach, Florida's comprehensive annual financial report presents detailed
information as a context for understanding what the information in the financial statements, note
disclosures, and required supplementary information says about the City’s overall financial health.

These schedules contain trend information to help the reader
understand how the government’s financial performance and
well being have changed over time. 

These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the
government’s most significant local revenue source, the property 
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Schedule 4

Year

2023 $ 1,946,145     $ 189,102        $ 2,232,023     $ 648,029        $ 117,590        $ 29,982          $ 173,125        $ 40,598          $ 5,376,594     

2022 $ 1,755,555     $ 172,314        $ 509,540        $ 705,051        $ 99,433          $ 72,001          $ 27,272          $ 49,854          $ 3,391,020     

2021 $ 1,652,537     $ 179,776        $ 560,028        $ 539,653        $ 119,454        $ 17,312          $ 6,669            $ 10,089          $ 3,085,518     

2020 $ 1,593,578     $ 132,580        $ 411,300        $ 457,157        $ 130,311        $ 15,869          $ 54,689          $ 6,846            $ 2,802,330     

2019 $ 1,519,216     $ 106,938        $ 1,711,564     $ 419,857        $ 538,794        $ 31,702          $ 107,440        $ 25,452          $ 4,460,963     

2018 $ 1,424,880     $ 91,232          $ 1,024,789     $ 389,800        $ -                $ 41,799          $ 49,691          $ 8,956            $ 3,031,147     

2017 $ 1,324,141     $ 70,010          $ 553,270        $ 396,751        $ -                $ 16,538          $ 28,828          $ 35,900          $ 2,425,438     

2016 $ 1,278,269     $ 49,127          $ 623,468        $ 383,086        $ -                $ 11,855          $ 22,295          $ 5,345            $ 2,373,445     

2015 $ 1,242,786     $ 46,514          $ 830,363        $ 368,649        $ -                $ 7,721            $ 22,952          $ 10,140          $ 2,529,125     

2014 $ 1,196,656     $ 38,711          $ 544,912        $ 356,950        $ -                $ 12,813          $ 9,162            $ 4,349            $ 2,163,553     

Year

2023 $ 1,433,411     $ 195,479        $ 317,255        $ 1,946,145     

2022 $ 1,260,856     $ 195,749        $ 298,950        $ 1,755,555     

2021 $ 1,170,878     $ 187,045        $ 294,614        $ 1,652,537     

2020 $ 1,117,077     $ 188,420        $ 288,081        $ 1,593,578     

2019 $ 1,068,618     $ 183,563        $ 267,035        $ 1,519,216     

2018 $ 1,014,430     $ 165,829        $ 244,621        $ 1,424,880     

2017 $ 926,891        $ 157,015        $ 240,235        $ 1,324,141     

2016 $ 883,698        $ 156,936        $ 237,635        $ 1,278,269     

2015 $ 843,286        $ 167,080        $ 232,420        $ 1,242,786     

2014 $ 783,665        $ 168,469        $ 244,522        $ 1,196,656     

(1) Includes General Fund and Capital Projects Fund

CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA
GENERAL GOVERNMENTAL REVENUES BY SOURCE (1)

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS
UNAUDITED

Forfeitures TotalMiscellaneous
Licenses and Intergovern- Charges for Fines and

Interest

GENERAL GOVERNMENTAL TAX REVENUE BY SOURCE (1)

Taxes Taxes Taxes Total

Property Franchise Utility

Taxes Permits mental Services Assessments

-63-

WORKING 
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Schedule 9CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA
GENERAL GOVERNMENTAL EXPENDITURES BY SOURCE

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS
UNAUDITED

 -
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Schedule 10

Total

Direct
Year Tax Rate

2023 $ 728,312,390  $ 2,042,663  $ 730,355,053   $ 404,305,750  $ 1,134,660,803 2.0394       

2022 $ 638,093,942  $ 2,023,443  $ 640,117,385   $ 238,970,572  $ 879,087,957    2.0394       

2021 $ 592,261,368  $ 1,971,273  $ 594,232,641   $ 172,559,265  $ 766,791,906    2.0394       

2020 $ 564,693,910  $ 1,948,272  $ 566,642,182   $ 181,008,334  $ 747,650,516    2.0394       

2019 $ 540,493,808  $ 1,848,540  $ 542,342,348   $ 182,548,030  $ 724,890,378    2.0394       

2018 $ 510,863,592  $ 1,931,873  $ 512,795,465   $ 169,797,907  $ 682,593,372    2.0394       

2017 $ 475,752,224  $ 1,816,732  $ 477,568,956   $ 156,051,630  $ 633,620,586    2.0394       

2016 $ 446,072,813  $ 1,868,800  $ 447,941,613   $ 151,562,391  $ 599,504,004    2.0394       

2015 $ 419,789,096  $ 2,019,477  $ 421,808,573   $ 157,845,919  $ 579,654,492    2.0394       

2014 $ 394,583,151  $ 1,940,046  $ 396,523,197   $ 79,546,569    $ 476,069,766    2.0394       

SOURCE:  Pinellas County Property Appraiser

CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA
ASSESSED VALUE AND ACTUAL VALUE OF TAXABLE PROPERTY

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS
UNAUDITED

Real Personal Assessed Value of

Total Assessed

Property Property Value Exemptions Operations

-69-

WORKING 566,642,566,6

0 $ 542,342,348$ 542,342,34

,931,87331,873 $ 512,$ 5

$ 1,816,732  $ 1,816,732  $

072,81372,81 $ 1,868,8  $ 1,868,8  

$ 419,789,096419,789,096 $$

4 $ 394,583,151$ 394,583,15

SOURCE:  Pinellas CSOURCE:  Pinellas C
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Schedule 14

Year

2023 $ 1,134,660,803   $ 730,355,053 $ 1,489,160     $ 1,433,411     96% $ 1,433,411  96%

2022 $ 879,087,957      $ 640,117,385 $ 1,303,977     $ 1,260,856     97% $ 1,260,856  97%

2021 $ 766,791,906      $ 594,232,641 $ 1,212,819     $ 1,170,878     97% $ 1,170,878  97%

2020 $ 747,650,516      $ 566,642,182 $ 1,155,678     $ 1,117,077     97% $ 1,117,077  97%

2019 $ 724,890,378      $ 542,342,348 $ 1,106,053     $ 1,068,618     97% $ 1,068,618  97%

2018 $ 682,593,372      $ 512,795,465 $ 1,046,825     $ 1,014,430     97% $ 1,014,430  97%

2017 $ 633,620,586      $ 477,568,956 $ 975,678        $ 926,891        95% $ 926,891     95%

2016 $ 599,504,004      $ 447,941,613 $ 914,383        $ 879,447        96% $ 883,698     97%

2015 $ 579,654,492      $ 421,808,573 $ 860,681        $ 831,259        97% $ 843,286     98%

2014 $ 476,069,766      $ 396,523,197 $ 810,195        $ 783,588        97% $ 783,665     97%

(1)   Florida Statutes provide for a discount of up to four percent for early payment of ad valorem taxes.

        All unpaid taxes become delinquent on April 1, and are sold at auction on June 1 of each year as tax certificates.

        The City, after all tax certificates are sold, has fully collected all ad valorem tax revenues.

SOURCE:  Pinellas County Tax Collector Office      

CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA
PROPERTY TAX LEVIES AND COLLECTIONS

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS
UNAUDITED
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Schedule 16

Fiscal
Year

2023 $ 3,569,509                 0.49% $ 2,175                        

2022 $ 1,691,667                 0.26% $ 1,030                        

2021 $ 1,950,900                 0.33% $ 1,195                        

2020 $ 2,525,484                 0.45% $ 1,554                        

2019 $ 2,749,575                 0.51% $ 1,804                        

2018 $ 2,986,066                 0.58% $ 1,962                        

2017 $ 1,320,000                 0.28% $ 888                           

2016 $ 1,480,000                 0.33% $ 920                           

2015 $ 1,640,000                 0.39% $ 1,140                        

2014 $ 1,800,000                 0.45% $ 1,164                        

Details regarding the City's outstanding debt can be found in the notes to the financial statements.

(1) See the Schedule of Assessed Value and Estimated Actual Value of Taxable Property for property value data.

(2)  Population data can be found in the Schedule of Demographic and Economic Statistics.

Per Capita (2)Debt of Property (1)

Total

General Revenue Taxable Value Outstanding

Estimated Actual

Percentage of

CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA
RATIO OF GENERAL REVENUE AND DEBT OUTSTANDING

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS
UNAUDITED
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Schedule 18

$ 226,921             $ 63,297               100%

General Fund
Franchise fees $ 195,479             
Public service tax 317,255             
Intergovernmental 2,232,023          
Charges for services 648,029             
Fines 29,982               
Licenses and permits 189,102             
Interest on investments 173,125             
Miscellaneous 40,598               

3,825,593          
Capital Projects Fund

Infrastructure Sales Tax 234,701             

$ 4,060,294          

(1) Interest expense was for the full Fiscal Year 2023 and is accounted for in the Capital Projects Fund

Interest Coverage
Non-Ad Valorem

Revenue Principal
Debt Service (1)

CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA
PLEDGED REVENUE COVERAGE

UNAUDITED

Pledged Revenues
Revenue Loan

-77-

WORKING 2525
0,5980,598

3,825,5935,59

234,701234,701            

$ 4,060,294$ 4,060,294

he full Fiscal Year 2023full Fiscal Year 2023

GGNG
KINKIN

COPY 
63,29763,29763,29763,297

teresterest YY
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counted for in the Capounted for in the Cap
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Schedule 19

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6)

Fiscal
Year

2023 1,641             $ 128,750         $ 92,321           60.1               N/A 3.20%

2022 1,643             $ 105,156         $ 78,155           57.5               N/A 2.50%

2021 1,633             $ 102,226         $ 78,896           61.6               N/A 3.90%

2020 1,625             $ 105,316         $ 72,690           61.1               N/A 5.70%

2019 1,524             $ 106,778         $ 75,739           61.0               N/A 2.90%

2018 1,522             $ 94,031           $ 67,363           60.7               N/A 2.90%

2017 1,487             $ 91,810           $ 65,436           60.0               N/A 3.30%

2016 1,609             $ 91,250           $ 63,047           56.8               N/A 4.60%

2015 1,439             $ 87,426           $ 56,243           59.5               228                5.00%

2014 1,547             $ 83,433           $ 55,454           59.0               148                5.80%

SOURCE:  

(1)  University of Florida, Bureau of Economic & Business Research 

(2) to (5)  Pinellas County Economic Development Research  

(6)  U.S. Department of Labor Bureau of Statistics for the Tampa / St. Pete / Clearwater Metro Area 

Rate
UnemploymentPersonal

CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA
MISCELLANEOUS DEMOGRAPHICAL STATISTICS

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS
UNAUDITED

Income

expressed 
Population in thoudands) Income

(amounts Per Capita

Personal

School
Enrollment

Median
Age

-78-

WORKING 78,

72,69072,690

$ 75,739$ 75,7398

     $    $94,03194,03

$ 91,810$            $           $91,81091,81

$ 91,2$1,6091,609 91,291

             $             1,4391,439

                          1,547,547

SOURCE:  SOURCE:  

 Uni Un

COPY 
60.1             

57.557.5               

                        

SchoolSc
EnrollmentEnro

OPOP
-  (6)
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61.061.                

60.760 7                      

5,4365,                         

63,04763,047

$ 56,243$ 56,24366

    $    $83,43383,433

Florida, Bureau of EconFlorida, Bureau of Econ

ounty Economic Develunty Economic Devel

Department of Labor BuDepartment of Labor Bu
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Schedule 22

Date of Incorporation 1950
Form of Government City Council / City Manager
Number of Employees 5
Paved Streets 7.25 miles
Law Enforcement Pinellas County Sheriff's Office effective June 1, 2007
Resident Utilities: Duke Energy - electricity

Pinellas County Utilities - water, reclaimed water, sewer
Waste Management - garbage and recycling
Clearwater Gas - gas

Recreation Facilities:
Parks 11 and access to additional 3
Playgrounds 1
Beaches 4,500 feet
Tennis 2 courts
Basketball Court 1 court 
Marina 19 boat slips
Boat Ramp 1
Fishing Docks 5

Population and Source:
Year Population
2023 1,659 University of Florida, Bureau of Economic & Business Research
2022 1,643 University of Florida, Bureau of Economic & Business Research
2021 1,633 University of Florida, Bureau of Economic & Business Research
2020 1,625 University of Florida, Bureau of Economic & Business Research
2019 1,524 U.S. Census Bureau
2018 1,522 U.S. Census Bureau
2017 1,497 www.esri demographic estimates
2016 1,609 fact finder US Census Bureau
2015 1,439 www.esri demographic estimates
2015 1,439 www.esri demographic estimates
2014 1,547 www.esri demographic estimates
2013 1,544 U.S. Census Bureau
2012 1,558 University of Florida
2011 1,563 University of Florida
2010 1,608 University of Florida
2000 1,633 historical City data
1990 2,070 historical City data
1980 1643 historical City data
1970 952 historical City data
1960 563 historical City data

Source

CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA
MISCELLANEOUS STATISTICAL DATA

UNAUDITED
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Schedule 24

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Public Safety
Police stations * 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Highways and Streets:            
Bridges 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Street (miles) 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8
Curb (miles) 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16
Intersection traffic signal - Gulf Blvd / Causeway 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Pedestrian beacons / crosswalks 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5

Culture and Recreation  
Cul de Sacs 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8
Docks 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5
Park acreage 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5
Parks ** 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11
Tennis Courts 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2

* Effective June 1, 2007 law enforcement service was contracted out to the Pinellas County Sheriff's Office

** City of Belleair Beach residents are allowed access to additional 3 parks at Belleair Shore and 1 at Bayside Park. These parks are maintained by the City of Belleair Beach.

CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA
CAPITAL ASSET STATISTICS BY FUNCTION

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS
UNAUDITED
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER  
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS  

BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED 
IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

To the Honorable Mayor, City Council Members  
City of Belleair Beach, Florida  

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-
type activities, each major fund, and the budgetary comparison for the General Fund of the City of Belleair Beach, 
Florida, (the City) as of and for the year ended September 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon 
dated April XX, 2024.   
 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City’s internal control over 
financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances 
for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the City’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct 
misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements 
will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough 
to merit attention by those charged with governance.   
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section 
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or 
significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal 
control that we consider to be material weaknesses.  However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been 
identified.  
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Honorable Mayor, City Council Members  
City of Belleair Beach, Florida 

Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City’s financial statements are free from material 
misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and 
grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of 
financial statement amounts.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an 
objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The results of our tests disclosed no 
instance of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 
 
Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the 
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control or on 
compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance.  Accordingly, this communication is not 
suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 
 
 
Tampa, Florida 
April XX, 2024 
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MANAGEMENT LETTER 

To the Honorable Mayor, City Council Members  
City of Belleair Beach, Florida 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the financial statements of the City of Belleair Beach, Florida, (the City) as of and for the fiscal 
year ended September 30, 2023, and have issued our report thereon dated April XX, 2024. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; 
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States; and Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Auditor General.   
 
Other Reporting Requirements 

We have issued our Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards; and Independent Accountant’s Report on an examination conducted in 
Accordance with AICPA Professional Standards, AT-C Section 315, regarding compliance requirements in 
accordance with Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Auditor General.  Disclosures in those reports and schedules, which 
are dated April XX, 2024, should be considered in conjunction with this management letter. 
 
Prior Audit Findings 

Section 10.554(1)(i)1., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we determine whether or not corrective actions 
have been taken to address findings and recommendations made in the preceding financial audit report.  There 
were no findings or recommendations made on internal control and compliance issues during the preceding annual 
financial audit. 
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Honorable Mayor, City Council Members  
City of Belleair Beach, Florida 

Official Title and Legal Authority 

Section 10.554(1)(i)4., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that the name or official title and legal authority 
for the primary government and each component unit of the reporting entity be disclosed in this management 
letter, unless disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.  The official title and legal authority for the City 
of Belleair Beach, Florida has been disclosed in Note 1 to the financial statements. 

Financial Condition and Management 

Section 10.554(1)(i)5.a. and 10.556(7), Rules of the Auditor General, require us to apply appropriate procedures 
and communicate the results of our determination as to whether or not the City has met one or more of the 
conditions described in Section 218.503(1), Florida Statutes, and to identify the specific condition(s) met. In 
connection with our audit, we determined that the City did not meet any of the conditions described in Section 
218.503(1), Florida Statutes. 
 
Pursuant to Sections 10.554(1)(i)5.b. and 10.556(8), Rules of the Auditor General, we applied financial condition 
assessment procedures for the City.  It is management’s responsibility to monitor the City’s financial condition, 
and our financial condition assessment was based in part on representations made by management and review of 
financial information provided by the same. 
 
Section 10.554(1)(i)2., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we communicate any recommendations to 
improve financial management.  In connection with our audit, we did not have any such communications. 
 
Additional Matters 

Section 10.554(1)(i)3., Rules of the Auditor General, requires us to communicate noncompliance with provisions 
of contracts or grant agreements, or abuse, that have occurred, or are likely to have occurred, that have an effect 
on the financial statements that is less than material but which warrants the attention of those charged with 
governance.  In connection with our audit, we did not note any such findings. 
 
Purpose of this Letter 

Our management letter is intended solely for the information and use of the Legislative Auditing Committee, 
members of the Florida Senate and the Florida House of Representatives, the Florida Auditor General, Federal 
and other granting agencies, and applicable management, and is not intended to be and should not be used by 
anyone other than these specified parties. 

 
 
 
Tampa, Florida 
April XX, 2024 
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INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT 
ON COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 218.415, FLORIDA STATUTES 

Honorable Mayor, City Council Members  
City of Belleair Beach, Florida 

We have examined the City of Belleair Beach, Florida’s (the City’s) compliance with Section 218.415, Florida 
Statutes, regarding the investment of public funds during the year ended September 30, 2023.  Management is 
responsible for the City’s compliance with those requirements.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
City’s compliance based on our examination. 

Our examination was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the American Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants and, accordingly, included examining, on a test basis, evidence about the City’s 
compliance withs those requirements and performing such procedures as we considered necessary in the 
circumstances.  We believe that our examination provided a reasonable basis for our opinion.  Our examination 
does not provide a legal determination on the City’s compliance with specified requirements. 
 
In our opinion, the City of Belleair Beach, Florida complied, in all material respects, with the aforementioned 
requirements for the year ended September 30, 2023. 
 
This report is intended solely for the information and use of the City of Belleair Beach, Florida, and the Auditor 
General, State of Florida, and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified 
parties. 
 
 
 
 
Tampa, Florida 
April XX, 2024 
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CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, FLORIDA 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS: 

PROFESSIONAL AUDITING SERVICES 

RFP # 24-01 
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City of Belleair Beach, Florida 

444 Causeway Boulevard 

Belleair Beach, FL 33786 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Subject:     Independent Audit Services 

 

 

RFP Issue Date:    Friday, April 19, 2024  

 

 

Proposal Deadline:    Friday, May 31, 2024 

      2:00 P.M. 

 

Proposal Submission:    DemandStar only 

(https://network.demandstar.com/) 

RFP #24-01 Audit Services 

 

 

       

  



Page 3 of 14 
 

INSTRUCTIONS AND GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 

The City of Belleair Beach, Florida (City) is seeking proposals from qualified firms of independent 

Certified Public Accountants to conduct an audit of the financial statements of the City for the 

fiscal years ending September 30, 2024, 2025, and 2026 with an option for two, one-year renewals. 

 

Questions: 

 

All written questions should be submitted to Kyle.Riefler@cityofbelleairbeach.com, no later than 

Tuesday, May 14, 2024, and will be answered at the discretion of the City.  Oral questions will not 

be answered.   

 

Electronic Proposals: 

 

The City is accepting electronic submissions exclusively through DemandStar 

(https://network.demandstar.com/) until Friday, May 31, 2024, before 2:00 p.m. Proposals sent in 

any manner other than electronically through DemandStar will not be accepted.  Hard copies, faxed 

proposals, and electronically submitted proposals sent directly to the City will not be accepted. 

 

Complete proposals must be uploaded to DemandStar (https://network.demandstar.com/) prior to 

the deadline for submission.  Proposers are responsible for taking all necessary steps to ensure that 

their proposal is uploaded before the due date and time.  The City is not responsible for technology 

and/or any other issues that cause the proposal deadline to be missed. 

 

Responses: 

 

All responses must be presented in the same order as specified in this bid.  Supporting material 

may be provided.  However, the City’s decision will primarily be based upon an evaluation of the 

information specifically requested.  The City reserves the right to accept or reject any proposals 

and to waive rejection for any minor irregularities and technicalities.  There is no obligation on the 

part of the City to award the contract to the respondent with the lowest cost proposal.  The City 

will award the contract for audit services to the firm that is most advantageous for, and in the best 

interest of, the City of Belleair Beach.   

 

Proposals shall clearly indicate the legal name, address, and telephone number of the company, 

firm, partnership or individual.  Proposals shall be signed, and the signer shall have the authority 

to bind the Proposer to the submitted proposal.  All expenses for making proposals to the City are 

to be assumed by the Proposer.  The City reserves the right to reject any or all proposals.  The City 

reserves the right to award the contract to the next most qualified Proposer if the successful 

Proposer fails to execute a contract within two weeks after the award.  The City reserves the right 

to terminate the contract at any time before the execution of such contract by all parties without 

any liability to the City. 
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Selection Process and Calendar: 

 

The selection process shall be as follows: 

• The Audit Selection Committee shall rank and recommend in order of preference the firms 

deemed to be the most highly qualified to perform the required services. This determination 

shall be made based on the evaluation criteria set forth in this RFP. 

• The City Council shall then select one of the firms. 

• The City Council, or its designee, shall negotiate a contract with the highest-ranked 

qualified firm unless it documents in its public records the reason for not selecting the 

highest-ranked qualified firm. 

 

Friday, April 19, 2024  Request for proposals issued 

 

Friday, May 31, 2024 Proposal submission deadline and request for proposals 

opening – 2:00 p.m. at City Hall 

 

Date to be determined   Audit Selection Committee Proposal Ranking  

 

Date to be determined Oral presentations by three (3) top-ranked firms if deemed 

necessary by the Audit Selection Committee 

 

July 1, 2024    City Council awards contract for audit services 

 

Evaluation Process: 

 

Proposals will be reviewed by an Auditor Selection Committee pursuant to § 218.391, Florida 

Statutes.  One member of the City Council and members of the Citizens Advisory Committee will 

function as the Audit Selection Committee and the City Council shall be the final authority 

regarding the proposals.  The resulting negotiated agreement for audit services shall be final.  The 

City staff may use discretion to exchange information with proposers and any communication 

would be for clarification purposes only.   

 

The criteria being used by the Audit Selection Committee to evaluate proposals include the 

following: 

 

Evaluation Criteria Maximum Possible Points 

Qualifications, Experience, Expertise 45 

Audit Approach, Ability to Furnish 30 

References 15 

Cost Proposal 10 
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General Information: 

 

The City has been the recipient of the Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) 

Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting for many years and plans to 

continue to pursue this distinction during the period of this agreement.  The City has an ongoing 

contract with the firm Andrew Tess CPA, LLC to provide the necessary functions within the 

Finance department as an alternative to employing an in-house Finance Director.  Andrew Tess or 

a designated representative will coordinate with the City’s auditor each year and be the principal 

contact person(s).  The City does not have an internal audit function.  The accounting system 

currently being used by the City is QuickBooks.   

 

Elected officials include the City’s Mayor, Vice Mayor and five Council Members.  The City 

adopted the Council-Manager form of government in fiscal year 2004.  

 

The City’s governmental funds include the General Fund and the Capital Projects Fund.  The City 

maintains enterprise funds to account for the slip rentals in the City-owned Marina and a 

Stormwater Fund to account for the costs of stormwater improvements within the City.  

 

A budget is prepared for all funds.  The total budgeted expenditures for all City funds for fiscal 

year 2024 are approximately $12.998 million, with a large portion of these expenditures (in excess 

of $5 million) representing capital outlay projects for stormwater improvements, valley curb 

replacements, street resurfacing and undergrounding utilities.  SLFRF / ARPA funding was fully 

expended during fiscal year 2023. 

 

There are no commercial businesses within City limits. The City of Belleair Beach is eight tenths 

of a mile consisting of residential property only.  Police protection is provided by the Pinellas 

County Sheriff and fire services are through Pinellas County.  The City provides a defined 

contribution retirement plan and a deferred compensation plan to employees through the Florida 

League of Cities.  No post-employment benefits other than COBRA are offered, and health 

insurance premiums are age-adjusted so there is no OPEB valuation currently required.  Neither a 

Federal or State Single Audit has been performed historically and the City does not anticipate 

being subject to these provisions during the time of this contract.  However, the scope of this 

agreement does stipulate that the necessary examinations pursuant to the Uniform Guidance and/or 

State Single Audit be included in case there are unforeseen changes in funding received during the 

years under examination. 

 

Scope of Work: 

 

The scope of the audit shall be in accordance with Generally Accepted Auditing Standards; 

Government Auditing Standards; all applicable Florida Statutes; all guidelines and requirements 

promulgated by the Office of the Auditor General and any other applicable federal, state and local 

laws, regulations, or professional guidance not specifically described above as well as any 

additional requirements which may be adopted by these organizations during the period of this 

contract. 
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In addition to the above, the selected firm shall be responsible for the following tasks: 

 

• Preparation and finalization of a complete draft of the Annual Comprehensive Financial 

Report (ACFR), which is due by the second Friday of February following each year end 

and enables the audit presentation to be delivered at the March City Council meeting. This 

meeting is typically scheduled for the first Monday of the month. 

• Preparation and submission of a completed report to allow for the timely submission for 

the GFOA certificate, which is currently due by March 31st following each year end. 

• Preparation of a draft of the financial statements, related note disclosures, required and 

other supplementary information including incorporating any changes necessary to comply 

with comments received through the GFOA award program.  

• Provision of any audit adjusting entries and supporting schedules to the City. 

 

In addition to these tasks and the contents of this RFP solicitation, the selected Firm’s services 

shall be subject to the following conditions: 

 

• The Proposer shall not substitute the individuals identified as the engagement partner(s) in 

its response to this RFP without notifying the City Manager. 

• The firm selected shall either submit progress reports or hold periodic meetings with 

appropriate City staff to provide assurance that the audit is on schedule. 

• At the completion of each audit, an exit conference will be held with appropriate City staff 

to discuss any findings and recommendations. 

• Auditors will assist the City in implementing and complying with any changes in reporting 

requirements remain in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 

United States of America, Florida Statutes, and Rules of the Auditor General. 

• Auditors shall conduct an examination of financial statements to express an opinion on the 

fairness of presentation of financial position, results of operations, and changes in financial 

position in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles and requirements of 

the State of Florida and other applicable laws, rules, and guidelines. 

• Auditors shall conduct an examination of any additional activities necessary to establish 

compliance with the term “financial audit” as defined and used in Government Auditing 

Standards and any amendments thereto.  

• Auditors shall utilize financial condition assessment procedures to assist in the detection 

of deteriorating financial conditions pursuant to Section 218.39(5), Florida Statutes.  The 

auditor may use financial condition assessment procedures developed by the Auditor 

General or an alternative method.  The financial condition assessment shall be done as of 

the fiscal year end.  However, the auditor shall consider subsequent events, through the 

date of the audit report, that could significantly impact the local governmental entity’s 

financial condition.  This assessment is expected to be presented at the same time each 

ACFR is presented. 

• The selected firm shall provide all required Independent Accountant / Auditor Reports in 

accordance with Government Auditing Standards, Florida Statutes and the Rules of the 

Auditor General. 

• The selected firm shall provide a Management Letter as required by Florida Statutes and 

the Rules of the Auditor General, including all required disclosures. 
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• The selected firm shall provide a report on internal controls over financial reporting and on 

compliance and other matters based on an audit of financial statements performed in 

accordance with Government Auditing Standards. 

• If applicable, provide a report on compliance with requirements applicable to each major 

Federal program and state financial assistance project and on internal control over 

compliance required by Title 2, U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform 

Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal 

Awards (Uniform Guidance) and Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Auditor General and the 

Florida Single Audit Act. 

• If applicable, provide a schedule of findings and questioned costs as mandated by Title 2, 

U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost 

Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance), and the 

Florida Single Audit Act. 

• If applicable, provide any other reports required by the Uniform Guidance and the Florida 

Single Audit Act.  

• Workpapers are the property of the audit firm and shall be retained no less than five (5) 

years after the completion of this agreement.  
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Assistance to be Provided to the Auditors: 

 

• The City will ensure that the City Manager, Finance representative and other necessary 

employees will be made available to assist the auditors as needed. 

• The City will coordinate with the auditors to provide accounting records and supporting 

documentation as deemed necessary to prepare the City’s financial statements. 

• The auditors will be provided with a reasonable workspace, computer access to examine 

transactions within the accounting software, photocopying facilities, and access to original 

and/or electronic documentation. 

• The City will prepare the Letter of Transmittal, Management Discussion and Analysis, and 

portions of the Statistical Section.  The City reserves the right to review a draft of the ACFR 

prior to presentation and/or distribution. 

• The City will prepare and submit the Annual Financial Report to the Department of 

Financial Services, in accordance with Section 218.32, Florida Statutes but reserves the 

right to request the auditors’ review ahead of the submission. 

 

Proposal Requirements: 

Eligibility: 

The following minimum requirements must be met: 

 

1. The firm must have been established as a legal entity in the State of Florida and have 

performed continuous CPA services for a minimum of five (5) years. 

2. Proposer meets the Government Auditing Standards independence requirements. 

3. The CPA in charge of the audit has completed, within the immediately preceding two (2) 

years, at least twenty-four (24) hours of continuing professional education that directly 

relate to government auditing. 

4. The firm adheres to the instructions, terms and conditions outlined in this RFP. 

 

Response Elements: 

Every response received by the City will be considered a public record pursuant to Chapter 119, 

Florida Statutes.  All proposal documents submitted must be in PDF format. Pursuant to the Florida 

Electronic Signature Act, officers or authorized agents of Proposers are authorized to sign 

proposals electronically. 

 

1. Title Page 

 

2. Table of Contents 

 

3. Profile of Firm 

a. Affirmation that the elements described above under “eligibility” have been met. 

b. Location of the office where the work will be done and the number of partners, 

managers, supervisors, and other professional staff employed at that office. 

c. Describe the range of activities performed by the local office such as audit, 

accounting, tax and/or other consulting services. 
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d. The firm must submit a copy of their most recent external quality control review 

report (peer review) and the firm successfully demonstrates a record of quality 

work. 

 

4. Qualifications, Experience, Expertise  

a. Identify the current partners, managers and/or supervisors that will work on the 

audit.  Include any aspects of the audit that will be performed by specialists, other 

consultants, or subcontractors. 

b. For any specialists, other consultants, or subcontractors, provide details regarding 

any applicable professional credentials. 

c. For each partner or supervisor, provide the following information as applicable: 

• Formal education 

• Supplemental education 

• Experience in public accounting, private business or government 

• Experience in auditing governmental entities 

• Memberships to any organizations pertinent to governmental accounting or 

auditing 

• Professional recognition 

d. Describe current and/or past local government auditing experience, including 

familiarity with obtaining the Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in 

Financial Reporting and Single Audits. 

 

5. Audit Approach 

a. Describe the overall audit approach including the method for ensuring that pending 

GASB pronouncements will be appropriately communicated to the City and 

subsequently audited. 

b. Level of firm staff to be assigned to aspects of the audit work. 

c. Type and extent of procedures used for analytical review, statistical sampling, and 

understanding internal controls. 

d. Describe the firm’s expectation of City staff regarding involvement in the audit. 

 

6. References 

a. Provide a minimum of three (3) references, preferably from other public entities 

within the State of Florida, for whom you have provided similar services.   

• Include the name of the entity, contact person’s name, phone number and 

email address. 

• Type of services provided. 

• Dates of services provided. 

 

7. Cost Proposal 

a. Prepare annual pricing information relative to performing the audit engagement as 

described in this request for proposals.  The total, all-inclusive price is to contain 

all direct and indirect costs.  Prices should be determined for each year of the 

contract and proposed price increases for the possible extension periods. 

b. Separate each annual audit fee to distinguish the price with and without a Single 

Audit. 
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8. Insurance Documentation and Representations 

The auditor shall, at its own cost and expense, acquire and maintain (and cause any 

subcontractors, representatives, or agents to acquire and maintain) during the term with the 

City, sufficient insurance to adequately protect the respective interest of the parties.   

 

The following appendices shall be signed and returned with each proposal. 

• Appendix 1 – Minimum Insurance Requirements 

• Appendix 2 – Hold Harmless Agreement 

• Appendix 3 – Proposer’s Representation and Certification Form 

 

9. Neutrality in Evaluations 

Pursuant to Florida Statutes § 287.05701(3), prospective Proposers are notified that the 

City will not request documentation of or consider a Proposer’s social, political, or 

ideological interests when determining if the Proposer is a responsible vendor, nor will it 

give preference to a Proposer based on the Proposer’s social, political, or ideological 

interests. 

 

10. The successful Proposer will be required to execute an agreement with the City in the form 

set forth in Appendix 2 to this RFP. 
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APPENDIX 1 - MINIMUM INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

 

The successful Proposer shall, by the Effective Date of the Agreement, have and maintain the 

following types and levels of insurance: 

 

Prior to commencing any services, Consultant shall provide proof of insurance coverage as 

required hereunder. Such insurance policy(s) shall be issued by the United States Treasury or 

insurance carriers approved and authorized to do business in the State of Florida, and who must 

have a rating of no less than “excellent” by A.M. Best or as mutually agreed upon by the City and 

Consultant. All such insurance policies may not be modified or terminated without the express 

written authorization of the City. 

 

Type of Coverage Amount of Coverage 

 

Professional liability/ $1,000,000 per claim Errors and Omissions 

 

Commercial general liability $1, 000,000 per occurrence (Products/completed operations 

Contractual, insurance broad form property, 

Independent Consultant, personal injury) $2,000,000 annual aggregate Automobile (owned, 

non-owned, & hired) $ 1,000,000 single limits Worker’s Compensation $ Florida statutory 

limits 

The commercial general liability and excess liability policies will name the City as an additional 

insured on a primary, non-contributing basis and proof of all insurance coverage shall be furnished 

to the City by way of an endorsement to same or certificate of insurance prior to the provision of 

services. The certificates shall clearly indicate that Consultant has obtained insurance of the type, 

amount, and classification as required for strict compliance with this section. Failure to comply 

with the foregoing requirements shall not relieve Consultant of its liability and obligations under 

this Agreement. 

 

Acknowledgement of Insurance Coverage: 

 

Proposer's Firm Name:  _______________________________     

Signature:  _______________________________ 

Name:   _______________________________ 

Title:   _______________________________   
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APPENDIX 2 - PROPOSER'S REPRESENTATION AND CERTIFICATION FORM  
 
 

In submitting a Proposal, Proposer understands, represents, and certifies the following (if the Proposer 

cannot so certify to any of following, the Proposer shall submit with its Proposal a written explanation of 

why it cannot do so).  If City finds, before or after award that Proposer was not truthful concerning any of 

the following, City shall have the right to terminate the award without liability and, at its discretion, to seek 

damages from Proposer, if damages result to City from such act, in any way whatsoever. 

 

Lobbying:   In accordance with Title 49 CFR Part 20, Proposer certifies that they have not paid any person 

or lobbied any person for influencing or attempting to influence any officer or employee of any federal 

agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, an employee of a Member of Congress, 

the Legislature or a State Agency in connection with the awarding of a contract for the Project covered 

under this solicitation. 
 

Initial     

 

Non-Segregated Facilities:   Proposer certifies that they do not maintain or provide, for their employees, 

any segregated facilities at any of their establishments and that they do not permit their employees to 

perform their services at any location, under their control, where segregated facilities are maintained.  

Proposer agrees that a breach of this certification is a violation of the Equal Opportunity Clause of any 

awarded Contract.  As used in this certification, the term segregated facilities, means any waiting rooms, 

work areas, restrooms and washrooms, restaurants and other eating areas, time clocks, locker rooms and 

other storage or dressing areas, parking lots, drinking fountains, recreation or entertainment areas, 

transportation, and housing facilities provided for employees which are segregated by explicit directives or 

are in fact segregated on the basis of race, color, religion, or national origin because of habit, local custom, 

or any other reason.  The only exception to this is for the disabled when the demands for accessibility 

override (e.g. disabled parking). 
Initial     

 

Public Entity Crime:   Proposer certifies that they are not subject to Section 287.133(2)(a) which specifies 

that a person or affiliate who has been placed on the convicted vendor list following a conviction for a 

public entity crime may not submit a Proposal on a contract to provide any goods or services to a public 

entity, may not submit a Proposal on a contract with a public entity for the construction or repair of a public 

building or public work, may not be awarded or perform work as a contractor, supplier, sub-contractor, or 

consultant under a contract with any public entity, and may not transact business with public entity in excess 

of the threshold amount provided in Section 287.017 of the Florida Statutes, for a Category Two, for a 

period of thirty-six (36) months from the date of being placed on the convicted vendor list. 
Initial     

 

Discriminatory Vendor:   Proposer certifies that they are not subject to Section 287.134 (2)(a) of the 

Florida Statutes which specifies that an entity or affiliate who has been placed on the discriminatory vendor 

list may not submit a Proposal on a contract to provide any goods or services to a public entity, may not 

submit a Proposal on a contract with a public entity for the construction or repair of a public building or 

public work, may not be awarded or perform work as a contractor, supplier, sub-contractor, or consultant 

under a contract with any public entity, and may not transact business with public entity. 
Initial     

 

Compliance with Laws:   Proposer affirms that they will comply with all laws, regulations, executive 

orders, policies, guidelines, rules, codes, ordinances, and licensing requirements that are applicable to the 

conduct of its business, including those of local, State and Federal agencies having jurisdiction and 

authority, to include, but not be limited to the following: Immigration and Nationalization Act; United 

States Occupational Safety and Health Act; Section 306 of the Clean Air Act (42 USC 1857(h); Section 
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508 of the Clean Water Act (33 USC 1368); Executive order 11738; Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 

1964 (42 U.S.C. 2000); Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1968 (42 U.S.C. 3601); Florida Civil Rights Act 

of 1992; Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. 12102); Federal Fair Labor Standards Act (29 

U.S.C. 201); Age Discrimination Act of 1975 (42 U.S.C. 6101).  
   Initial     

 

Drug Free Workplace:   Proposer certifies that they have a Drug-Free Workplace Program that is in 

accordance with the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988. 
Initial     

 

Non-Collusion:   Proposer being duly sworn, solemnly swears (or affirms) that neither they, nor any of its 

officers, partners, agents or employees have entered into any agreement, participated in any collusion, or 

otherwise taken any action which is in restraint of a free competitive solicitation in connection with any 

response or contract, and that Proposer intends to do the work with his own bona fide employees or sub-

contractors and will not provide a response for the benefit of another consultant.  By signing below, 

Proposer is certifying his status under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States and the State 

of Florida.  Furthermore, Proposer certifies that its affiliates, subsidiaries, directors, officers, and employees 

are not currently under investigation by any governmental authority and have not in the last ten (10) years 

been convicted or found liable for any act prohibited by law in any jurisdiction, involving conspiracy or 

collusion with respect to submitting a response on any public contract. 
Initial     

 

Conflict of Interest:   Proposer certifies that they have not employed or retained any company or person, 

other than a bona fide employee working solely for the Proposer to solicit or secure an Award of this 

Contract and that the Proposer has not paid or agreed to pay any person, company, corporation, individual, 

or firm, other than a bona fide employee working solely for the Proposer, any fee, commission, percentage, 

gift or other consideration contingent upon or resulting from an Award or making of an Agreement.  

Furthermore, Proposer certifies that 1) they are submitting only one Proposal to this Invitation to Proposal 

and that they have no financial interest in other entities submitting Proposals to this Invitation to Proposal, 

2) they, nor its affiliates, nor anyone associated with them have any potential conflict of interest due to any 

other clients, contracts, or property interests for the Services covered under this Invitation to Proposal, 3) 

no member of the Proposer’s ownership, management or staff has a vested interest in any aspect of or 

department of City, 4) no member of the Proposer's ownership, management or staff is presently applying 

for employment with City or actively seeking an elected position with City, and 5) in the event that a conflict 

of interest is identified during the provision of Services under any Agreement with City, Proposer will 

immediately notify City of such in writing. 
Initial     

 

Debarment:  Proposer certifies to the best of their knowledge and belief, that they and their principals (1) 

are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded 

from covered transactions by any State or Federal department or agency; and (2) have not, within a three-

year period preceding this Invitation to Proposal, been convicted of or had a civil judgment rendered against 

them for commission of fraud or a criminal offense in connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or 

performing a public (Federal, State or local) transaction or contract under a public transaction; violation of 

Federal or State antitrust statutes or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or 

destruction of records; making false statements; or receiving stolen property; and (3) are not presently 

indicted for or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a governmental entity (Federal, State or local) 

with commission of any of the offenses enumerated in paragraph 2 of this certification; and (4) have not 

within a three-year period preceding this Invitation to Proposal had one or more public transactions 

(Federal, State or local) terminated for cause or default, and (5) will submit a revised Debarment 

Certification immediately if their status changes and will provide an explanation for the change in status.  
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If Proposer cannot certify that they are not debarred, they shall provide an explanation with this submittal.  

An explanation will not necessarily result in denial of participation in a contract. 
Initial     

 

Convictions:   Proposer has fully informed City of all convictions of the firm, its affiliates (as defined in 

section 287.133(1) (a) of the Florida Statutes), and all directors, officers, and employees of the firm and its 

affiliates for violation of state or federal antitrust laws with respect to a public contract for violation of any 

state or federal law involving fraud, bribery, collusion, conspiracy or material misrepresentation with 

respect to a public contract.  This includes disclosure of the names of current employees who were convicted 

of contract crimes while in the employ of another company. 
Initial     

 

Prohibited Interests:   Proposer, and its sub-contractors at any tier, certify that they have not entered into 

any contract, sub-contract, or arrangement in connection with the project covered under this Invitation to 

Proposal, or of any property included or planned to be included in the project, in which any member, officer, 

of employee of the Proposer or its sub-contractors, during its tenure, or for two years thereafter, has any 

interest, direct or indirect. 
Initial     

 

Equal Employment Opportunity:  Proposer shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, sex, age, 

national origin, religion, and disability or handicap in accordance with the Provisions of: Title VI of the 

Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. § 2000 et seq.), Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968 (42 U.S.C. § 

3601 et seq.), Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992 (§ 760.10 et seq.), Title 41 CFR Part 60 for compliance with 

Executive Orders 11246 and 11375, Title 49 CFR 23 and Title 49 CFR 26 for Disadvantaged Business 

Enterprises, Age Discrimination Act of 1975 (42 U.S.C. § 6101, et seq.), Title 49 CFR 21 and Title 49 CFR 

23, Nondiscrimination on the basis of handicap, Title 49 CFR 27, Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 

(42 U.S.C. 12102, et. seq.), Federal Fair Labor Standards Act (29 U.S.C. § 201, et seq.), and any other 

Federal and State discrimination statutes. 
Initial     

 

Proposer certifies that they comply (or will comply) with the above statements concerning: Lobbying, Non-

Segregated Facilities, Public Entity Crime, Conflict of Interest, Compliance With Laws, Discriminatory 

Vendor, Debarment, Non-Collusion, Prohibited Interests, Convictions, Drug Free Workplace, Equal 

Employment Opportunity, as noted on pages one through two. 

 

Failure to submit this executed statement as part of the Proposer's Proposal may make their Proposal 

nonresponsive and not eligible for award consideration. 

 

Acknowledgement of Proposer’s Representation and Certification Form 

 

Proposer's Firm Name:  _______________________________     

Signature:  _______________________________ 

Name:   _______________________________ 

Title:   _______________________________   
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PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

(ANNUAL INDEPENDENT FINANCIAL AUDITING SERVICES) 
 

THIS PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is entered on this __ day of 

________________, 2024 (the Effective Date), by and between the City of Belleair Beach, a Florida 

municipal corporation (“City”) and [Name of Company], a [insert legal form of company] authorized to do 

business in the State of Florida (“Consultant”), herein collectively referred to as “the Parties.” 

 

EXORDIAL CLAUSES 

 

WHEREAS, the City issued a Request for Proposal number RFP # 24-01 for Annual Independent 

Financial Auditing Services (the “RFP”) in accordance with Florida Statutes § 218.391 (Auditor selection 

procedures); and 

 

WHEREAS, the necessary auditing services are to be performed in accordance with generally 

accepted auditing standards, the standards set forth for financial audits in the U.S. General Accounting 

Office’s (GAO) Government Auditing Standards, the provisions of the Federal Single Audit Act of 1996 

and the U.S. Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-133, Audits of State, Local 

Governments, and Nonprofits, and the Rules of the Auditor General of the State of Florida, as amended 

from time to time; and 

 

WHEREAS, Consultant has provided the City with a written proposal in response to the RFP to 

provide the services as described and set out in the RFP; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City desires to accept Consultant’s proposal in order for Consultant to render the 

services to the City as provided herein; and 

 

WHEREAS, Consultant further warrants that it is experienced and capable of performing the 

services hereunder in a professional and competent manner; and 

 

WHEREAS, the purpose of this Agreement is to set forth certain terms and conditions for the 

provision of services by Consultant to the City. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and mutual covenants herein contained, 

the sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged by the Parties, the City and Consultant agree as follows: 

 

SECTION 1: CONSULTANT’S SERVICES. The Consultant shall provide independent financial auditing 
services to the City as more specifically described in RFP, which is incorporated by reference and made a 
part hereof. The City may request additional services as needed based upon mutual agreement between the 
Parties. 

 

SECTION 2: INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR RELATIONSHIP. No relationship of employer or 

employee is created by this Agreement, it being understood that Consultant will act hereunder as an 

independent contractor and none of Consultant’s, officers, directors, employees, independent contractors, 

representatives or agents performing services for Consultant pursuant to this Agreement shall have any 

claim under this Agreement or otherwise against the City for compensation of any kind under this 

Agreement. The relationship between the City and Consultant is that of independent contractors, and neither 

shall be considered a joint venturer, partner, employee, agent, representative or other relationship of the 

other for any purpose expressly or by implication. 

 

SECTION 3: TERM, TIME AND TERMINATION. 

a. Term. Notwithstanding the actual date or execution by the Parties, the term of this 
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Agreement shall commence upon the Effective Date, and shall expire at 11:59 p.m. on September 30, 2027 

unless earlier terminated as stated herein. Pursuant to Florida Statutes § 218.391(8), the Parties may elect 

to renew this Agreement for such additional term as the Parties may agree. 

 

b. Time for Completion. Time is of the essence in the performance of services required under 

this Agreement. At all times Consultant shall carry out its duties and responsibilities as expeditiously as 

possible and in accordance with the project schedule as set forth in RFP. 

 

c. Force Majeure. Neither Party hereto shall be liable for its failure to perform hereunder due 

to any circumstances beyond its reasonable control, such as acts of God, wars, riots, national emergencies, 

sabotage, strikes, labor disputes, pandemic events, accidents, and governmental laws, ordinances, rules, or 

regulations. The Consultant or City may suspend its performance under this Agreement as a result of a force 

majeure event without being in default of this Agreement, but upon the removal of such force majeure 

event, the Consultant or City shall resume its performance as soon as is reasonably possible. Upon the 

Consultant’s request, the City shall consider the facts and extent of any failure to perform the services and, 

if the Consultant’s failure to perform was without its or its sub-consultant’s fault or negligence, the schedule 

and/or any other affected provision of this Agreement may be revised accordingly, subject to the City’s 

rights to change, terminate, or stop any or all of the services at any time. No extension shall be made for 

delay occurring more than seven (7) days before a notice of delay or claim therefore is made in writing to 

the City. In the case of continuing cause of delay, only one (1) notice of delay or claim is necessary. 

 

d. Termination without cause. Either Party may terminate this Agreement at any time with or 

without cause by giving not less than thirty (30) days written notice of termination. 

 

e. Termination for cause. Either Party may terminate this Agreement at any time in the event 

that the other Party engages in any act or makes any omission constituting a material breach of any term or 

condition of this Agreement. The Party electing to terminate this Agreement for breach shall provide the 

other Party with written notice specifying the nature of the breach. The Party receiving the notice shall then 

have three (3) business days from the date of the notice in which to remedy the breach. If such corrective 

action is not taken within three (3) business days, then this Agreement shall terminate at the end of the three 

(3) business day period without further notice or demand. 

 

f. Early Termination. If this Agreement is terminated before the completion of all services by 

either Party, the Consultant shall: 

 

1. Stop services on the date and to the extent specified including without limitation services 

of any sub-consultants. 

 

2. Transfer all work in progress, completed work, and other materials related to the terminated 

services to the City in the format acceptable to City. 

 

3. Continue and complete all parts of the services that have not been terminated, to the extent 

permissible under applicable professional standards. 

 

g. Effect of Termination. Termination of this Agreement shall not affect any rights, 

obligations, and liabilities of the Parties arising out of services provided prior to the date of termination. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Parties acknowledge and agree that the City is a municipal corporation 

existing under the laws of the State of Florida, and as such, this Agreement (and all Exhibits hereto) are 

subject to budgeting and appropriation by the City of funds sufficient to pay the costs associated herewith 

in any fiscal year of the City. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, in the event that 

no funds are appropriated or budgeted by the City’s governing board in any fiscal year to pay the costs 

associated with the City’s obligations under this Agreement, or in the event the funds budgeted or 

appropriated are, or are estimated by the City to be, insufficient to pay the costs associated with the City’s 

obligations hereunder in any fiscal period, then the City will notify Consultant of such occurrence and either 
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the City or Consultant may terminate this Agreement by notifying the other in writing, which notice shall 

specify a date of termination no earlier than twenty-four (24) hours after giving of such notice. Termination 

in accordance with the preceding sentence shall be without penalty or expense to the City of any kind 

whatsoever; however, City shall pay Consultant for all services performed under this Agreement through 

the date of termination. 

 
SECTION 4: COMPENSATION. 

 

a. Payments. The City agrees to compensate Consultant in accordance with the Annual Fees (total all- 

inclusive maximum price) set forth in Consultant’s fee schedule, attached hereto as Exhibit “A”. The City 

shall not reimburse Consultant for any additional costs incurred as a direct or indirect result of Consultant 

providing services to the City under this Agreement and not set forth in Exhibit “A”. 

 

b. Invoices. Consultant shall render invoices to the City for services that have been rendered in 

conformity with this Agreement, the RFP and Exhibit “A”, and pursuant to Florida Statutes § 

218.391(7)(b), invoices submitted must be in sufficient detail to demonstrate compliance with the terms of 

this Agreement, and shall specify the services performed and the time spent on such work. All reimbursable 

expenses shall also be clearly identified on the invoice with supporting documentation. Invoices will be 

reviewed for approval and if an invoice is not approved, the City will notify Consultant within ten (10) days 

of deficiencies in the invoice. Once the deficiencies are corrected and a new or amended invoice submitted, 

the City shall make payment within twenty (20) days. Invoices will normally be paid within thirty (30) days 

following the City’s receipt of Consultant’s invoice. 

 

SECTION 5: INDEMNIFICATION. Consultant, its officers, employees and agents shall indemnify and 

hold harmless the City, including its officers and employees from liabilities, damages, losses, and costs, 

including but not limited to, reasonable attorney’s fees (at the trial and appellate levels), to the extent caused 

by the negligence, of Consultant, its officers, directors, employees, representatives and agents employed or 

utilized by Consultant in the performance of the services under this Agreement. The City agrees to be 

responsible for its own negligence. In no event shall either Party be liable to the other for claims of punitive, 

consequential, special, or indirect damages. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall create a contractual 

relationship with or a cause of action in favor of a third party against either the City or Consultant, nor shall 

this Agreement be construed as a waiver of sovereign immunity for the City beyond the waiver provided in 

Florida Statutes § 768.28. 

 

SECTION 6: COMPLIANCE AND DISQUALIFICATION. Each of the Parties agrees to perform its 

responsibilities under this Agreement in conformance with all laws, regulations and administrative 

instructions that relate to the parties’ performance of this Agreement. 

 

SECTION 7: PERSONNEL. Consultant represents that it has or will secure at its own expense, all 

necessary personnel required to perform the services. Such personnel shall not be employees of or have any 

contractual relationship with the City. All of the services required hereunder shall be performed by 

Consultant or under its supervision, and all personnel engaged in performing the services shall be fully 

qualified and authorized or permitted under federal, state and local law to perform such services. 

 

SECTION 8: SUB-CONSULTANTS. The City reserves the right to accept the use of a sub-consultant or 

to reject the selection of a particular sub-consultant and approve all qualifications of any sub-consultant in 

order to make a determination as to the capability of the sub-consultant to perform properly under this 

Agreement. All sub-consultants providing professional services to Consultant under this Agreement will 

also be required to provide their own insurance coverage identical to those contained in this Agreement. In 

the event a sub- consultant does not have insurance or does not meet the insurance limits as stated in this 

Agreement, Consultant shall indemnify and hold harmless the City for any claim in excess of the sub- 

consultant’s insurance coverage, arising out of the negligent acts, errors or omissions of the sub-consultant. 
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SECTION 9: FEDERAL AND STATE TAX. The City is exempt from payment of Florida State Sales and 

Use Tax. Consultant is not authorized to use the City’s Tax Exemption Number. 

 

SECTION 10: INSURANCE. Prior to commencing any services, Consultant shall provide proof of 

insurance coverage as required hereunder. Such insurance policy(s) shall be issued by the United States 

Treasury or insurance carriers approved and authorized to do business in the State of Florida, and who must 

have a rating of no less than “excellent” by A.M. Best or as mutually agreed upon by the City and 

Consultant. All such insurance policies may not be modified or terminated without the express written 

authorization of the City. 

 

Type of Coverage Amount of Coverage 
 

Professional liability/ $1,000,000 per claim 

Errors and Omissions 

 

Commercial general liability $1, 000,000 per occurrence 

(Products/completed operations 

Contractual, insurance broad form property, 

Independent Consultant, personal injury) $2,000,000 annual aggregate 

Automobile (owned, non-owned, & hired) $ 1,000,000 single limits 

Worker’s Compensation $ Florida statutory limits 

The commercial general liability and excess liability policies will name the City as an additional insured on 

a primary, non-contributing basis and proof of all insurance coverage shall be furnished to the City by way 

of an endorsement to same or certificate of insurance prior to the provision of services. The certificates shall 

clearly indicate that Consultant has obtained insurance of the type, amount, and classification as required 

for strict compliance with this section. Failure to comply with the foregoing requirements shall not relieve 

Consultant of its liability and obligations under this Agreement. 

 

SECTION 11: SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS. The City and Consultant each binds itself and its partners, 

successors, executors, administrators, and assigns to the other Party of this Agreement and to the partners, 

successors, executors, administrators and assigns of such other Party, in respect to all covenants of this 

Agreement. Except as agreed in writing by all parties, this Agreement is not assignable. 

 

SECTION 12: DISPUTE RESOLUTION, LAW, VENUE AND REMEDIES. All claims arising out of this 

agreement or its Agreement or its breach shall be submitted first to the Consultant’s President (or other 

similarly-titled chief administrative officer) and the City Manager for informal resolution. Failing informal resolution, 

disputes related to the interpretation of or performance under the Agreement shall be submitted to a court. This 

Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Florida. Any and all legal action necessary to 

interpret or enforce the Agreement will filed in Pinellas County, Florida. No remedy herein conferred upon 

any Party is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy, and each and every such remedy shall be 

cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy given hereunder or now or hereafter existing at 

law or in equity or by statute or otherwise. No single or partial exercise by any Party of any right, power, or 

remedy hereunder shall preclude any other or further exercise thereof. 

 

SECTION 13: WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. TO ENCOURAGE PROMPT AND EQUITABLE 

RESOLUTION OF ANY LITIGATION, EACH PARTY HEREBY WAIVES ITS RIGHTS TO A TRIAL 

BY JURY AND AGREE ANY LITIGATION RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE 

RESOLVED BY A STATE OR FEDERAL JUDGE IN PINELLAS COUNTY, FLORIDA. 

 

SECTION 14: ACCESS AND AUDITS. Consultant shall maintain adequate records to justify all payments 

made by the City under this Agreement for at least three (3) years after completion of this Agreement and 
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longer if required by applicable federal or state law. The City shall have access to such books, records, and 

documents as required in this section for the purpose of inspection or audit during normal business hours, 

at Consultant’s place of business. In no circumstances will Consultant be required to disclose any 

confidential or proprietary information regarding its products and service costs. 

 

SECTION 15: NONDISCRIMINATION. Consultant warrants and represents that its policies and 

operations are compliant with all applicable state and federal anti-discrimination laws. 

 

SECTION 16: AUTHORITY TO PRACTICE. Consultant hereby represents and warrants that it has and 

will continue to maintain all licenses and approvals required to conduct its business and provide the services 

required under this Agreement, and that it will at all times conduct its business and provide the services 

under this Agreement in a reputable manner. Proof of such licenses and approvals shall be submitted to the 

City upon request. 

 

SECTION 17: SEVERABILITY. If any term or provision of this Agreement, or the application thereof to 

any person or circumstances shall, to any extent, be held invalid or unenforceable, to remainder of this 

Agreement, or the application of such terms or provision, to persons or circumstances other than those as 

to which it is held invalid or unenforceable, shall not be affected, and every other term and provision of this 

Agreement shall be deemed valid and enforceable to the extent permitted by law. 

 

SECTION 18: PUBLIC ENTITY CRIMES. Consultant acknowledges and agrees that a person or affiliate 

who has been placed on the convicted vendor list following a conviction for a public entity crime may not 

submit a bid, proposal, or reply on a contract to provide any goods or services to a public entity; may not 

submit a bid, proposal, or reply on a contract with a public entity for the construction or repair of a public 

building or public work; may not submit bids, proposals, or replies on leases of real property to a public 

entity; may not be awarded or perform work as a contractor, supplier or sub-contractor under a contract 

with any public entity; and may not transact business with any public entity in excess of the threshold 

amount provided in Florida Statutes § 287.017, for CATEGORY TWO, for a period of 36 months following 

the date of being placed on the convicted vendor list. The Consultant will advise the City immediately if it 

becomes aware of any violation of this statute. 

 

SECTION 19: NOTICE. All notices required in this Agreement shall be sent by hand-delivery, certified 

mail (RRR), or by nationally recognized overnight courier, and if sent to the City shall be sent to: 

 

City of Belleair Beach 

Attn: City Manager 

444 Causeway Blvd. 

Belleair Beach, FL 33786 

and if sent to Consultant, shall be sent to: 

[Vendor Name] 
Attn: [**********] 

[Address] 

[Address], FL [zip] 

with a copy of any and all legal notices to: 

[enter additional recipients as the Parties desire] 

 
The foregoing names and addresses may be changed if such change is provided in writing to the other Party. 
Notice shall be deemed given upon the later of confirmed or acknowledge receipt or ten (10) days from 
posting. 



6  

 
SECTION 20: ENTIRETY OF AGREEMENT. The City and Consultant agree that this Agreement sets 

forth the entire agreement between the parties, and that there are no promises or understandings other than 

those stated herein. None of the provisions, terms and conditions contained in this Agreement may be 

added to, modified, superseded or otherwise altered, except by written instrument executed by the Parties 

hereto. 
 

SECTION 21: WAIVER. Failure of a Party to enforce or exercise any of its right(s) under this Agreement 
shall not be deemed a waiver of that Parties’ right to enforce or exercise said right(s) at any time thereafter. 

 

SECTION 22: PREPARATION AND NON-EXCLUSIVE. This Agreement shall not be construed more 
strongly against either Party regardless of who was more responsible for its preparation. This is a non- 
exclusive Agreement and the City reserves the right to contract with individuals or firms to provide the 
same or similar services. 

 

SECTION 23: MATERIALITY. All provisions of the Agreement shall be deemed material. In the event 
Consultant fails to comply with any of the provisions contained in this Agreement or exhibits, amendments 
and addenda attached hereto, said failure shall be deemed a material breach of this Agreement and City may 
at its option provide notice to Consultant to terminate for cause. 

 
SECTION 24: NO THIRD-PARTY BENEFICIARIES. This Agreement is solely for the benefit of the 

Parties hereto, and no right, privilege, or cause of action shall by reason hereof accrue upon, to, or for the 

benefit of any third party. Nothing in this Agreement is intended or shall be construed to confer upon or 
give any person, corporation, partnership, trust, private entity, agency, or other governmental entity any 

right, privilege, remedy, or claim under or by reason of this Agreement or any provisions or conditions 
hereof. 

 

SECTION 25: NOTICE OF CLAIMS, SUITS AND REGULATORY VIOLATIONS. Each Party will 

promptly notify the other of any complaint, claim, suit or cause of action threatened or commenced against 

it which arises out of or relates, in any manner, to the performance of this Agreement. Each Party agrees to 

cooperate with the other in any investigation either may conduct, the defense of any claim or suit in which 

either Party is named, and shall do nothing to impair or invalidate any applicable insurance coverage. 

 

SECTION 26: SURVIVABILITY. Any provision of this Agreement which continuing or imposes an 

obligation extending beyond the term of this Agreement shall survive its expiration or earlier termination. 

 

SECTION 27: COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of 

which shall be deemed an original. 
 

SECTION 28: IMMIGRATION COMPLIANCE; E-VERIFY. Consultant acknowledges that it is 

responsible for complying with the provisions of the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986, U.S.C. § 

1324, et seq., and regulations relating thereto.  Failure to comply with the above statutory provisions shall be 

considered a material breach and shall be grounds for immediate termination of this Agreement. The 

Consultant’s employment of unauthorized aliens is a violation of § 274(e) of the Federal Immigration and 

Employment Act. The Consultant shall utilize the U.S. Department of Homeland Security’s E-Verify system 

to verify the employment eligibility of all new employees hired during the term of this Agreement, and shall 

require the same verification procedure of any Subcontractors authorized by the City. Pursuant to Florida 

Statutes § 448.095(5), Consultant shall register with and use the E-Verify system to verify the work 

authorization status of all newly hired employees. Consultant’s contract with the City cannot be renewed unless, 

at the time of renewal, Consultant certifies in writing to the City that it has registered with and uses the E-Verify 

system. If Consultant enters into a contract with a subcontractor, the subcontractor must provide the Consultant 

with an affidavit stating that the subcontractor does not employ, contract with, or subcontract with an 

unauthorized alien and Consultant shall maintain a copy of such affidavit for the duration of the contract. If 
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Consultant develops a good faith belief that any subcontractor with which it is contracting has knowingly 

violated Florida Statutes § 448.09(1) (making it unlawful for any person knowingly to employ, hire, recruit, or 

refer, either for herself or himself or on behalf of another, for private or public employment within the state, an 

alien who is not duly authorized to work by the immigration laws or the Attorney General of the United States) 

Consultant shall terminate the contract with the subcontractor. If the City develops a good faith belief that 

Consultant has knowingly violated Florida Statutes § 448.09(1) (making it unlawful for any person knowingly 

to employ, hire, recruit, or refer, either for herself or himself or on behalf of another, for private or public 

employment within the state, an alien who is not duly authorized to work by the immigration laws or the 

Attorney General of the United States) City shall terminate this contract. Pursuant to Florida Statutes § 

448.095(5)(c)(3), termination under the above-circumstances is not a breach of contract and may not be 

considered as such. 

 

SECTION 29: AGREEMENT DOCUMENTS AND ORDER OF PRECEDENCE. The agreement of the 

Parties consists of this Agreement, the City’s RFP, and the Consultant’s Proposal (which are incorporated 

herein by reference). The Parties agree to be bound by all the terms and conditions set forth in the 

aforementioned documents. To the extent that there exists a conflict between the terms and conditions of 

the aforementioned documents, this Agreement shall prevail over any other document. In the event a 

conflict exists between the RFP and the Proposal, the RFP shall prevail over the Proposal. Wherever 

possible, the provisions of such documents shall be construed in such a manner as to avoid conflicts 

between provisions of the various documents. 

 

SECTION 30: OWNERSHIP OF DELIVERABLES. The deliverables, work product, calculations, 

supporting documents, or other work products which are listed as deliverables in this Agreement, the RFP, 

or the Proposal shall become the property of the City. Consultant may keep copies or samples thereof and 

shall have the right to use the same for its own purposes. The City accepts sole responsibility for the reuse 

of any such deliverables in a manner other than as initially intended or for any use of incomplete documents. 

For clarity, the Audit Documentation for this engagement is the property of Consultant and constitutes 

confidential information to the extent allowed by Florida law. The term “Audit Documentation” shall mean 

the confidential and proprietary records of Consultant’s audit procedures performed, relevant audit evidence 

obtained, other audit-related workpapers, and conclusions reached. Audit Documentation shall not include 

custom-developed documents, data, reports, analyses, recommendations, and deliverables authored or 

prepared by Consultant for the City under this Agreement, or any data, reports, analyses, workpapers or 

other documents belonging to the City and/or furnished to Consultant by the City. 

 

SECTION 31: REPRESENTATIONS AND BINDING AUTHORITY. By signing this Agreement, on 

behalf of Consultant, the undersigned hereby represents to the City that he or she has the authority and full 

legal power to execute this Agreement and any and all documents necessary to effectuate and implement 

the terms of this Agreement on behalf of Consultant for whom he or she is signing and to bind and obligate 

such Party with respect to all provisions contained in this Agreement. 

 

SECTION 32: PUBLIC RECORDS. Consultant shall comply with Florida’s Public Records Act, Chapter 

119, Florida Statutes, and, if determined to be acting on behalf of the City as provided under section 

119.011(2), Florida Statutes, specifically agrees to: 

 

(a) Keep and maintain public records required by the City to perform the service. 

 

(b) Upon request from the City’s custodian of public records or designee, provide the City with a copy 

of the requested records or allow the records to be inspected or copied within a reasonable time at a cost 

that does not exceed the cost provided in Chapter 119, Florida Statutes, or as otherwise provided by law. 

 

(c) Ensure that public records that are exempt or confidential and exempt from public records 

disclosure requirements are not disclosed except as authorized by law for the duration of this Agreement 

and following completion of this Agreement if Consultant does not transfer the records to the City. 
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(d) Upon completion of this Agreement, transfer, at no cost, to the City all public records in possession 

of Consultant or keep and maintain public records required by the City to perform the service. If Consultant 

transfers all public records to the City upon completion of the Agreement, Consultant shall destroy any 

duplicate public records that are exempt or confidential or exempt from public records disclosure 

requirements. If Consultant keeps and maintains public records upon completion of the Agreement, 

Consultant shall meet all applicable requirements for retaining public records. All records stored 

electronically must be provided to the City, upon request from the City’s custodian of public records or 

designee, in a format that is compatible with the information technology systems of the City. 

 

IF CONSULTANT HAS QUESTIONS REGARDING THE APPLICATION 

OF CHAPTER 119, FLORIDA STATUTES, TO CONSULTANT’S DUTY TO 

PROVIDE PUBLIC RECORDS RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, 

PLEASE CONTACT THE CUSTODIAN OF PUBLIC RECORDS OR 

DESIGNEE AT THE CITY OF BELLEAIR BEACH, ATTN: Renee Rose, City 

Clerk, 444 Causeway Blvd., Belleair Beach, Florida 33786. 

SECTION 33: TRADE SECRET INFORMATION. 

 

(a) Florida law provides that trade secret information, as defined in Florida Statutes § 812.081(1)(c), is 

confidential and exempt from public records disclosure. 

 

(b) Upon receipt of a response to a procurement solicitation, the City will not be aware that a bid, proposal, 

or other response contains such information. Therefore, bidders, proposers or other persons or entities 

responding to City solicitations must specifically and clearly identify all portions of their responses which 

are believed to be a trade secret, as defined by the law, and must, as to each such designation, provide the 

basis upon which the designated information is a trade secret. The mere designation of an entire 

submission as “confidential” will be insufficient to comply with this requirement. Absent some unusual 

justification, a bidder’s or proposer’s contract price shall not constitute a trade secret. 

 

(c) While the City will, to the extent possible, cooperate in any court action Consultant may bring against 

any third-party requesting to inspect and copy portions of a response asserted to be a trade secret, if 

Consultant fails, prior to the submission of its materials to the City, to specifically and clearly designate 

information therein as a trade secret as defined by Florida law, and to provide the supporting explanation 

for the designation, the right to assert the exemption may be lost, and the information may be subject to 

inspection and copying as otherwise provided for under Florida’s Public Records Act. 

 

(d) In the event any record designated as a trade secret is requested under the Act, City staff will consult 

with the City’s legal counsel and, if the City’s legal counsel agrees with the designation, the City will 

assert the exemption and redact the relevant materials. If the City’s legal counsel disagrees with the 

designation, City staff will inform the Consultant and Consultant may file an injunctive or declaratory 

judgment action and seek such emergency orders as desired to protect the information. 

SECTION 34: EXPORT ADMINISTRATION. Each Party agrees to comply with all export laws and 

regulations of the United States ("Export Laws") to assure that no software deliverable, item, service, 

technical data or any direct product thereof arising out of or related to this Agreement is exported directly 

or indirectly (as a physical export or a deemed export) in violation of Export Laws. 

 
SECTION 35: SCRUTINIZED COMPANIES. 

 

(a) Consultant certifies it and its subcontractors are not on the Scrutinized Companies that Boycott Israel 

List and are not engaged in a boycott of Israel. Pursuant to Florida Statutes § 287.135, the City may 

immediately terminate this Agreement if Consultant or any of its subcontractors are found to have submitted 

a false certification; or if Consultant or any of its subcontractors, are placed on the Scrutinized Companies 
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that Boycott Israel List or is engaged in the boycott of Israel during the term of this Agreement. 

 

(b) If this Agreement is for one million dollars or more, Consultant certifies that it and its subcontractors 

are also not on the Scrutinized Companies with Activities in Sudan List, Scrutinized Companies with 

Activities in the Iran Petroleum Energy Sector List, or engaged in business operations in Cuba or Syria as 

identified in Florida Statutes § 287.135. Pursuant to Florida Statutes § 287.135, the City may immediately 

terminate this Agreement at its sole option if Consultant, or any of its subcontractors are found to have 

submitted a false certification; or if Consultant or any of its subcontractors are placed on the Scrutinized 

Companies with Activities in Sudan List, or Scrutinized Companies with Activities in the Iran Petroleum 

Energy Sector List, or are or have been engaged with business operations in Cuba or Syria during the term of 

this Agreement. Consultant agrees to observe the above requirements for applicable subcontracts entered 

into for the performance of work under this Agreement. 

 
(c) Consultant agrees that the certifications in this section shall be effective and relied upon by the City 
for the term of this Agreement, including any and all renewals. 

 

(d) Consultant agrees that if it or any of its subcontractors’ status changes in regards to any certification 
herein, Consultant shall immediately notify the City of the same. 

 

As provided in Florida Statutes § 287.135(8), if federal law ceases to authorize the above-stated contracting 

prohibitions then they shall become inoperative. 

 
SECTION 35: LIQUIDATED DAMAGES. Contractor recognizes that in light of statutory mandates surrounding 

municipal audits, time is of the essence in the Contract Documents and all obligations thereunder. If the Contractor 
fails to deliver any final, draft, interim report, audit, or other deliverable required by this Agreement (including all 

deadlines set forth in Florida law), the City shall be entitled to retain or recover from the Contractor, as liquidated 

damages and not as a penalty, the sum of $100.00 per calendar day, commencing upon the first day following 
expiration of the relevant deadline and continuing until the actual date of successful completion and receipt by the 

City of the deliverable. The Contractor agrees that such liquidated damages will not constitute a penalty, but are 
instead calculated to be a reasonable estimate of damages the City will incur as a result of delayed completion of the 

work, including but not limited to, additional costs related to the need to retain supplemental emergency auditing 

services, loss of grant funding, or loss of state revenues or the incurring of state penalties due to missed statutory 
deadlines. The City may deduct liquidated damages as described in this paragraph from any unpaid amounts then or 

thereafter due the Contractor under this Agreement. Any liquidated damages not so deducted from any unpaid 
amounts due the Contractor shall be payable to the City at the demand of the City, together with interest from the 

date of the demand at the maximum statutory allowable rate. 

 

 

 

[Insert Consultant’s Name]    City of Belleair Beach 

 

 

________________________________   ________________________________ 

        City Manager 

 

Its:_____________________________ 

 



 

EXHIBIT “A” 
 

(Fee Schedule) 
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